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Powell has a history of  seeing things differently.  

Our work — producing highly customized 

engineered solutions for petrochemical, energy, 

utility, municipality and industrial users — has 

never been and will never be simple. In fact, it is 

becoming more complex.  

Our response is to find improvements that  

will make us more efficient and more valuable  

to our customers. 

In a world where profitability is seen as the 

result of  producing more, we seek to do better.  

In an economy that challenges survival, we turn 

our attention to growth. 

Through it all, we prepare to thrive in the face 

of  today’s challenges and economic drivers, and 

retain the distinctions that make us unique.

T h e

d i f f e r e n c e 
b e t we e n 

holding on
a n d 

taking charge



Distinguishing ourselves in the marketplace

In spite of  a dismal global economy, Powell ended the 

year in an extremely strong position, with record revenues, 

earnings and cash flow. 

The impact from the recent downturn would be hard for 

any company to escape. Our incoming orders have slowed, 

compared to the unprecedented volume of  recent years, 

but this is a cyclical business. Our long-term objective is to 

achieve continually higher peaks and continually higher 

lows with each business cycle.

Particularly in the oil and gas marketplace, legislative 

and economic uncertainties have caused many upcoming 

projects to be put on hold. Again, this is not a unique 

circumstance. For 61 years we have worked in a project-

driven, capital-intensive business, and Powell has overcome 

similar situations in the past. 

Building on demand for power

Powell retains a legacy position in the electrical control and 

distribution market, and we are confident our reputation 

for reliability and innovation will keep us in a leadership 

position. We remain confident about the future because of  a 

clear certainty: this rapidly developing planet is not going to 

need less energy, but more. 

We also believe that we have distinguished ourselves in 

how we have approached the current downturn: we have 

used this time to strengthen our organization, our internal 

processes and our people to prepare for the inevitable 

next surge. We are today a stronger and more competitive 

company than we were a year ago.

Capitalizing on existing strengths

Powell’s past strategic moves to diversify will serve us well 

in the future. Our investments in the fields of  urban mass 

transit and critical process control provide us with an 

edge as municipal and utility clients grow to rely on this 

sophisticated engineering and advanced technology.

Our response to our oil and gas clients’ expansions into 

international markets was to have a product portfolio and 

provide the custom-engineered solutions they require. As a 

result, we have developed an organization with the capacity 

to work to international standards on a global scale, in 

increasingly remote locations. 

Our past experience with a wide array of  electrical-system 

solutions allows us to participate in all forms of  electrical-

generation projects, including nuclear, coal, wind, hydro 

and even solar markets. No matter where the decision 

comes down on energy source, Powell will be able to work 

with customers to build efficient and cost-effective electrical-

power solutions for the future. 

This year has also brought new demand for many of  

our customer-focused innovations as clients look for ways 

to deliver faster, better, smarter. Our solutions add value 

by improving safety and control, and by simplifying the 

“ We see the current economy as a great 

opportunity to strategize — then develop  

and strengthen, organize and lead.”
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engineering, scheduling, installation and commissioning 

requirements on critical components of  the project site.

Providing the needed expertise

Powell’s recent initiatives focus on adding value through 

services around the solutions we provide. In a field where 

engineering talent is at a premium, we are building 

relationships so that customers rely on us not only for 

quality equipment, but for our experience, advanced 

technology and integration expertise. 

This year we worked with renewed focus on project 

management to streamline communication with our 

customers. We established a technical review process to 

address time, budget and technical details in the early stages 

of  a project, expediting delivery and making the process 

more predictable for us and for our customers. 

Becoming the preferred supplier 

Powell made significant progress this year in becoming 

an efficient organization. Although our projects are large 

in scale and extremely customized, we have instituted the 

means to measure and improve throughput across the 

board. The result is improved productivity and cash flow.

We also increased efforts to collaborate across the 

Company, and use our capacity wisely. We are finding new 

ways to deliver Powell reliability and expertise seamlessly. 

Internally, we have made gains in preparing the 

organization for growth. Realizing that investing in 

employees is key to our success, we identified training needs 

and organizational changes that will help Powell reach our 

long-term potential. These initiatives are now under way. 

An ongoing quest to stand apart

Powell first earned our reputation by going beyond normal 

expectations to meet a client’s needs. That responsiveness is 

part of  our culture; it is responsible for our success, and it 

will never change. 

What we are doing now is determining how we should 

best invest for the future. Our customer relationships are 

critical and will help with our efforts to serve a market 

that is experiencing dramatic change. We see the current 

economy as a great opportunity to strategize — then 

develop and strengthen, organize and lead. 

Rather than wait for signals from the market, we are 

proactively creating changes that will support more success, 

in more venues, with more types of  customers. Our 

commitment is to continue to distinguish ourselves as a 

thriving company and a rewarding place for talented people 

to work, with a strong return on investment for shareholders.

Patrick L. McDonald

President and Chief  Executive Officer
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T h e

d i f f e r e n c e 
b e t we e n 

providing a
product

a n d  a 

C O M P L e T e

engineering
solution

not content to simply deliver hardware,  

Powell consistently looks for ways to help 

customers improve control, reliability,  

safety and communication. 
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In the world of power distribution and process control, reliability 

is critical. And yet each of Powell’s highly engineered specialty 

projects is unique, with its own set of circumstances and constraints.

Drawing on our deep-seated understanding of  each client’s 

needs and applications, Powell works from the perspective 

of  optimizing the total package, not simply our portion of  

it. We offer clients single-source convenience and end-to-

end responsibility for it is this platform upon which the 

success of  their project depends.

Our engineering expertise allows us to act as integration 

advisors, creating systems that are more than the sum of  

their parts. 

Working either in tandem with or as a supplement to our 

client’s staff, our ability to work collaboratively on complex 

challenges can make a difference in circumstances where 

engineering talent and resources are constrained. 

Innovation in products and services

Powell was a pioneer with our focus on equipment and 

operational safeguards, and we continue to be Powered by 

Safety®. Our medium-voltage arc-resistant equipment has 

evolved into the widest range of  arc-resistant products in 

the ANSI market, reducing risk to both client assets and 

human life. Our latest addition is a new medium-voltage 

IEC circuit breaker for projects around the globe where 

international standards apply. 

A focus on safety also led to the development of  remote 

intelligent distribution and communication technology for 

complex process control systems. Today, the intelligence 

provided by “smart” systems has become as valuable 

and critical as the equipment. Intelligent hardware has 

proven its ability to monitor critical processes accurately, 

identify problems quickly, protect operators from high-risk 

environments and maintain overall reliability. 

Our innovations continue as our clients’ needs change.  

In 1968, Powell introduced the Power Control Room, 

which preassembles custom process-control and distribution 

equipment into a deliverable, site-ready package. We 

developed offshore modules in 1981 to offer the same 

concept to petrochemical customers and built a waterfront 

facility specifically to manage those needs. 

After experiencing the time, money and staffing savings 

provided by Power Control Rooms, Powell customers are 

today demanding this solution in unprecedented sizes. Our 

deep-seated experience provides savings at every stage and 

compounds the value of  our customer partnerships.

I n  T h e  T r u e s T  s e n s e

A project partner
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For 60-plus years, Powell has been a partner to 
clients exploring, developing and refining oil 
and gas fields. As the drive for energy continues 

and fields become more diverse, Powell solutions 
become a cost-effective alternative to managing 
construction in the field.  
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T h e

d i f f e r e n c e 
b e t we e n 

reacting to 
change 

a n d 

staying
A h e A d 

of it

Powell’s drive for industry leadership has led to 

continuous investment in research, development 

and innovations that make a difference in 

advanced custom-engineered solutions. 
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Powell has built a reputation on foreseeing, if not creating, the 

future in the complex custom-engineered solutions we provide. 

Due to our close relationships, we have supported our 

customers as they explored the possibilities of  electrical-power 

generation from a wide variety of  sources. This experience has 

positioned us well as the industry revitalizes efforts with all of  

the potential energy solutions now on the horizon. 

No matter which fuel source is chosen, Powell can offer 

the design, management and manufacturing capabilities to 

manage the distribution and control of  electricity in the future.

Building intelligence in 

We have carefully assembled the sophisticated in-house 

engineering skills that become key assets in the face 

of  today’s converging technologies. Going beyond the 

challenges of  complex electronic relays and exotic transfer 

schemes, we focus on building intelligence into our systems, 

rather than adding it on.

In an economy where details make the difference, we 

continue to invest in our own technological capabilities in 

both the design phase, with three-dimensional layouts and 

modeling, and in our fabrication process, with equipment 

that improves our performance as a custom-engineered 

solutions provider. A stringent quality system ensures that 

we will continue to be a highly reliable provider.

Increasing longevity

Because of  our long-term relationships with our customers, 

Powell has always seen maintenance and ongoing systems 

support as a logical extension of  our offering. We are 

increasing our capacity to service equipment on projects 

ranging from power plants, to offshore platforms, to freeway 

communication systems as clients look for ways to augment 

diminishing resources. 

We have also developed a specialty in retrofitting existing 

equipment to make it safer and operate more efficiently, 

resulting in significant cost savings for the end-user. Our 

knowledge of  governmental standards and compliance 

specifications can minimize the cost and disruption of  these 

potentially costly upgrades. 

While Powell approaches our work progressively, we are 

in many ways an old-fashioned company. We maintain our 

original values: a focus on customers, high-caliber performance 

and financial stability. These fundamentals serve to minimize 

risk as we continue to implement new ideas.

O n  T h e  f u T u r e

A different perspective
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The growth of  any industrial base requires great 
amounts of  electrical energy. The world will simply 
need more electrical power in the future, not less. 

Powell has developed international resources 
to serve customers as they deliver power to the 
planet’s emerging regions. 
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T h e

d i f f e r e n c e 
b e t we e n 

conducting 
a transaction

a n d 

f O r g I n g

a 
relationship

Powell’s strength has always been 

responsiveness. Today we are organizing to  

serve clients well beyond the day when 

equipment is delivered to the jobsite.
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reliability is the name of the game in our business, and Powell 

is fine-tuning our internal processes to add more structure, 

predictability and accuracy to our day-to-day performance. 

We have structured our project management process to 

give our customers a single point of  contact within our 

organization from the moment a project begins. In this way, 

we not only streamline communications for customers, we 

develop relationships which help us serve them better. 

A more in-depth technical review process provides  

the means to resolve any technical, financial or scheduling 

issues before project work is begun. The result is more 

accurate scheduling and more predictable workflow  

for each customer, which allows us to perform better for  

all customers.

The core of  our business remains custom-engineered 

solutions. However, our goal is to standardize the process 

by which the equipment is designed, manufactured, tested 

and installed, across the Powell organization. We have also 

focused on using all of  our facilities and our capacities more 

efficiently — another way we are increasing throughput and 

meeting clients’ schedules more effectively. 

Expanding our offering

What has always set Powell apart is our people, who have 

the expertise to optimize our custom solutions as well as the 

training to maintain our high level of  performance. 

Our objective through the next growth phase is to take 

more responsibility inside the organization, adding services 

that extend beyond today’s project deliverables. There is no 

doubt that Powell will need smart, prepared professionals to 

support our continued differentiation in the marketplace. 

In the recent past, we have fortified our efforts to train 

and cross-train our people, to identify and empower leaders 

and to groom the next generation of  Powell skilled workers. 

Organizationally, we are looking for ways to grow 

responsibly and profitably. To date, Powell has expanded 

our capacity and our footprint by supporting customers on 

their ventures around the globe. We will keep looking for 

ways to add solutions, address customers’ needs and add 

scope that complements our existing business. 

A  T r u s T e d  r e s O u r C e

Acting as
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As the supplier of  choice, in many ways Powell 
fills the role of  partner by providing direction and 
guidance on critical project decisions.
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On the surface we may not appear vastly different from 

Powell in the past. 

We remain a respected provider of  large-scale, complex, 

custom-engineered solutions that control and distribute 

critical processes for power, transportation, utility and 

industrial clients. 

We are an experienced supplier that has thrived through 

more than six decades of  fluctuations in the economy and 

cyclical demands in infrastructure. We have anchored 

success to a strong identification with our customers and to 

diversifying in order to even out the cycles. 

Today, in spite of  a down global market, Powell’s business 

fundamentals remain solid. 

In addition, we continue to build on our role as a problem 

solver and solutions provider. We are seeing results from 

efforts to improve our efficiency, profitability and scope. 

Rest assured, we are determined to pursue our future as 

creatively and responsibly as we did in the past. 

In the end, this commitment is what makes the difference. 

I n  T h e  f u T u r e

disting uishing Powell
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    2004  2005  2006  2007  2008   2009

Consolidated Statement of  Operations Data

Revenues $  206,142 $ 256,645 $ 374,547 $ 564,282 $  638,704  $  665,851

Gross Profit   35,977  43,234  69,058  95,591  126,406  145,049

Net Income  1,669  1,831  8,409  9,913  25,847  39,717

Per-Share Data

Basic Earnings   0.16  0.17  0.77  0.90  2.29  3.48

Diluted Earnings  0.15  0.17  0.76  0.88  2.26  3.43

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Working Capital   99,270  103,018  94,888  101,274  150,699   165,861

Total Assets   196,079  226,778  292,678  341,015  397,634   404,840

Long-Term Debt   6,626  19,436  33,886  27,372  33,944   4,800

Total Stockholders’ Equity   139,835  143,994  156,931  173,549  206,874   246,761

(In thousands, except per-share data)

  Years Ended October 31,  Years Ended September 30,

* 11-month year

Revenues 
(in millions of  dollars)

Net Income 
(in millions of  dollars)

Ending Backlog
(in millions of  dollars)

C O n s O L I d A T e d  
f I n A n C I A L  h I g h L I g h T s
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ManageMent’s Discussion anD  
analysis of financial conDition anD 
Results of opeRations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes. 
Any forward-looking statements made by or on our behalf are made 
pursuant to the safe-harbor provisions of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Readers are cautioned that such 
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties in 
that the actual results may differ materially from those projected 
in the forward-looking statements. For a description of the risks 
and uncertainties, please refer to the Company’s f ilings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, copies of which are 
available from the Company without charge.

oveRview
We develop, design, manufacture and service custom engineered-
to-order equipment and systems for the management and control 
of electrical energy and other critical processes. Headquartered 
in Houston, Texas, we serve the transportation, environmental, 
energy, industrial and utility industries. Our business operations 
are consolidated into two business segments: Electrical Power 
Products and Process Control Systems.

Throughout fiscal years 2007 and 2008, we experienced strong 
market demand for our products and services. New investments in 
oil and gas infrastructure, as well as new investments by municipal 
and transit authorities to expand and improve public transportation, 
were key drivers of increased business activity in fiscal years 2008 
and 2009. Customer inquiries, or requests for proposals, remained 
strong throughout fiscal 2008 and the first half of fiscal 2009. 
Accordingly, we entered fiscal 2009 with a strong backlog of orders 
which resulted in record revenues for fiscal 2009.

Results of opeRations
twelve Months ended september 30, 2009  
(“fiscal 2009”) compared to twelve Months ended 
september 30, 2008 (“fiscal 2008”)

Revenue and gross profit
Consolidated revenues increased $27.2 million to $665.9 million in 
Fiscal 2009 compared to $638.7 million in Fiscal 2008. Revenues 
increased as we have responded to strong market demand by 
increasing our capacity and throughput. Domestic revenues 
increased by 10.0% to $516.0 million in Fiscal 2009 compared to 
$469.1 million in Fiscal 2008. International revenues decreased 
from $169.6 million in Fiscal 2008 to $149.9 million in Fiscal 2009, 
primarily as the result of changes in the British Pound Sterling-to-
U.S. Dollar exchange rate. The increase in consolidated revenues 
was primarily due to an increased sales effort and strong market 
demand in Fiscal 2008 and the first half of Fiscal 2009. Gross profit 
in Fiscal 2009 increased by approximately $18.6 million compared 
to Fiscal 2008, as a result of our ability to absorb our fixed costs 
and improved pricing as a result of strong market activity.

electrical power products
Our Electrical Power Products business segment recorded 
revenues of $637.9 million in Fiscal 2009, compared to $611.5 
million in Fiscal 2008. In Fiscal 2009, revenues from public and 
private utilities were approximately $154.3 million compared to 
$171.8 million in Fiscal 2008. Revenues from commercial and 
industrial customers totaled $432.5 million in Fiscal 2009, an 
increase of $32.5 million compared to Fiscal 2008. Municipal and 
transit projects generated revenues of $51.1 million in Fiscal 2009 
compared to $39.7 million in Fiscal 2008.

Business segment gross profit, as a percentage of revenues, was 
20.9% in Fiscal 2009 compared to 19.3% in Fiscal 2008. The 
increase in gross profit as a percentage of revenues was attributable 
to efficiencies resulting from an increase in production volume and 
improved pricing as a result of strong market activity.

process control systems
In Fiscal 2009, our Process Control Systems business segment 
recorded revenues of $28.0 million, up from $27.2 million 
in Fiscal 2008. Business segment gross prof it increased as a 
percentage of revenues, to 40.8% for Fiscal 2009, compared to 
30.2% for Fiscal 2008. This increase resulted from a favorable 
mix of jobs and increased efficiencies through regionalization of 
operations. Revenues and gross profit benefited in Fiscal 2009 by 
approximately $3.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively, due to 
a mediated settlement related to a previously completed contract 
that was in dispute for several years.

For additional information related to our business segments, see 
Note M of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

consolidated selling, general and  
administrative expenses
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses 
decreased to 12.5% of revenues in Fiscal 2009 compared to 13.2% 
of revenues in Fiscal 2008. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses decreased to $83.4 million in Fiscal 2009 compared to 
$84.0 million in Fiscal 2008. This decrease was primarily a result 
of decreased commissions and incentive compensation. Selling, 
general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues 
decreased primarily due to our ability to leverage our existing 
infrastructure to support our increased production volume, along 
with the timing of commissions related to new orders.

interest income and expense
Interest expense was $1.1 million in Fiscal 2009, a decrease of 
approximately $1.8 million compared to Fiscal 2008. The decrease 
in interest expense was primarily due to lower interest rates and 
the lower amounts outstanding under our credit facility during 
Fiscal 2009.

Interest income was $0.1 million in Fiscal 2009 compared to $0.4 
million in Fiscal 2008. This decrease resulted from lower interest 
rates being earned on amounts invested.
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provision for income taxes
Our provision for income taxes reflects an effective tax rate on 
earnings before income taxes of 34.2% in Fiscal 2009 compared 
to 35.3% in Fiscal 2008. The decrease in the effective tax rate 
resulted primarily from an agreement reached with the taxing 
authorities in the United Kingdom resulting in a reduction in tax 
expense of approximately $568,000 related to foreign tax credits 
from previous years.

net income
In Fiscal 2009, we recorded net income of $39.7 million, or $3.43 
per diluted share, compared to $25.8 million, or $2.26 per diluted 
share, in Fiscal 2008. We generated higher revenues and improved 
gross profits for the Company as a whole, while leveraging our 
existing infrastructure to support our increased production volume. 
As previously discussed, net income in Fiscal 2009 included the 
benefit of the $3.5 million mediated settlement, reduced by legal and 
other expenses of approximately $0.7 million, net of tax, related to a 
previously completed contract that was in dispute for several years.

Backlog
The order backlog at September 30, 2009, was $365.8 million, 
compared to $518.6 million at September 30, 2008. New orders 
placed during Fiscal 2009 totaled $511.2 million compared to 
$705.4 million in Fiscal 2008. Our decline in backlog was due to 
the amount of projects completed being greater than the amount of 
orders received, and a number of our customers have delayed the 
start of new capital projects during the second half of Fiscal 2009.

fiscal 2008 coMpaReD to twelve Months 
enDeD septeMBeR 30, 2007 (“fiscal 2007”)

Revenue and gross profit
Consolidated revenues increased $74.4 million to $638.7 million in 
Fiscal 2008 compared to $564.3 million in Fiscal 2007. Revenues 
increased as we responded to strong market demand by increasing 
our capacity and throughput. Domestic revenues increased 
by 25.9% to $469.1 million in Fiscal 2008 compared to $372.7 
million in Fiscal 2007. International revenues decreased from 
$191.6 million in Fiscal 2007 to $169.6 million in Fiscal 2008, as 
a large international project was substantially completed in Fiscal 
2007. The increase in consolidated revenues was primarily due to 
higher levels of energy related investments, principally oil and gas 
projects. Gross profit in Fiscal 2008 increased by approximately 
$30.8 million compared to Fiscal 2007, as a result of improved 
pricing and productivity.

electrical power products
Our Electrical Power Products business segment recorded 
revenues of $611.5 million in Fiscal 2008, compared to $541.6 
million in Fiscal 2007. In Fiscal 2008, revenues from public and 
private utilities were approximately $171.8 million compared to 
$174.4 million in Fiscal 2007. Revenues from commercial and 
industrial customers totaled $400.0 million in Fiscal 2008, an 
increase of $69.6 million compared to Fiscal 2007. Municipal and 

transit projects generated revenues of $39.7 million in Fiscal 2008 
compared to $36.8 million in Fiscal 2007.

Business segment gross profit, as a percentage of revenues, was 
19.3% in Fiscal 2008 compared to 16.4% in Fiscal 2007. The 
increase in gross profit as a percentage of revenues is attributable 
to an increase in production volume and improved pricing, along 
with higher than anticipated margins being achieved on various 
jobs. Cost of sales and gross profit were also negatively impacted by 
approximately $1.4 million to record a 2006 charge for a liability 
related to a contract we entered into in fiscal 2006.

process control systems
In Fiscal 2008, our Process Control Systems business segment 
recorded revenues of $27.2 million, up from $22.7 million in Fiscal 
2007. Business segment gross profit increased as a percentage 
of revenues, to 30.2% for Fiscal 2008, compared to 28.8% for 
Fiscal 2007. This increase resulted from a favorable mix of jobs 
and achieving synergies and increased eff iciencies through 
regionalization of operations. Revenues and gross profit in Fiscal 
2008 were also positively impacted by approximately $1.9 million 
related to the favorable settlement of a claim for extra work performed 
on a project that was substantially completed in prior years.

For additional information related to our business segments, see 
Note M of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

consolidated selling, general and  
administrative expenses
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 
to 13.2% of revenues in Fiscal 2008 compared to 13.7% of revenues 
in Fiscal 2007. Selling, general and administrative expenses 
increased to $84.0 million in Fiscal 2008 compared to $77.2 million 
in Fiscal 2007. This increase is a result of increased commissions, 
salaries and incentive compensation due to increased volumes 
and earnings. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a 
percentage of revenues decreased due to our ability to leverage our 
existing infrastructure to support our increased production volume.

interest income and expense
Interest expense was $2.9 million in Fiscal 2008, a decrease of 
approximately $0.6 million compared to Fiscal 2007. The decrease 
in interest expense was primarily due to lower interest rates.

Interest income was $0.4 million in Fiscal 2008 compared to $0.6 
million in Fiscal 2007. This decrease resulted from lower interest rates 
and cash being used to fund working capital during Fiscal 2008.

provision for income taxes
Our provision for income taxes reflects an effective tax rate on 
earnings before income taxes of 35.3% in Fiscal 2008 compared to 
35.5% in Fiscal 2007. Our effective tax rate is impacted by income 
generated in the United Kingdom, which has a lower statutory rate 
than the United States, as well as a mix of various state income 
taxes due to the relative mix of volume in the United States.
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net income
In Fiscal 2008, we recorded net income of $25.8 million, or 
$2.26 per diluted share, compared to $9.9 million, or $0.88 per 
diluted share, in Fiscal 2007. As discussed above, we generated 
higher revenues and improved gross profits in all of our business 
segments, while leveraging our existing infrastructure to support 
our increased production volume.

Backlog
The order backlog at September 30, 2008, was $518.6 million, 
compared to $464.5 million at September 30, 2007. New orders 
placed during Fiscal 2008 totaled $705.4 million compared to 
$667.1 million in Fiscal 2007.

liquidity and capital Resources
Cash and cash equivalents increased to approximately $97.4 
million at September 30, 2009, as a result of cash flow provided 
by operations of approximately $127.0 million for Fiscal 2009. The 
approximately $127.0 million of cash flow from operations resulted 
from net income and our increased efforts to manage inventory and 
billings to customers and was used to repay our U.S. revolving credit 
facility and our revolving credit facility and term loan in the United 
Kingdom, reducing total debt outstanding by approximately $26.6 
million, and to finance our operational activities. As of September 
30, 2009, current assets exceeded current liabilities by 2.1 times 
and our debt to total capitalization ratio was 3.7%.

At September 30, 2009, we had cash and cash equivalents of $97.4 
million, compared to $10.1 million at September 30, 2008. We 
have a $58.5 million revolving credit facility in the U.S. and an 
additional £4.0 million (approximately $6.4 million) revolving credit 
facility in the United Kingdom, both of which expire in December 
2012. As of September 30, 2009, there were no amounts borrowed 
under these lines of credit. Total long-term debt and capital lease 
obligations, including current maturities, totaled $9.5 million at 
September 30, 2009, compared to $41.8 million at September 30, 
2008. Letters of credit outstanding were $17.6 million and $31.3 
at September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Amounts available 
under the U.S. revolving credit facility and the revolving credit 
facility in the United Kingdom were approximately $45.9 million 
and $6.4 million, respectively, at September 30, 2009. For further 
information regarding our debt, see Notes H and K of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

operating activities
During Fiscal 2009, cash provided by operating activities was 
approximately $127.0 million. Cash f low from operations is 
primarily influenced by demand for our products and services and 
is impacted as our progress payment terms with our customers are 
matched with the payment terms with our suppliers. The increase 
in cash flow from operations resulted primarily from net income 
and our increased efforts to manage inventory and billings to 
customers. During Fiscal 2008, cash used in operating activities 
was approximately $5.2 million. Cash f low from operations 
was negatively impacted as accounts receivable and inventories 
increased due to higher volume as a result of demand for our 
products and services. During Fiscal 2007, cash provided by 
operating activities was approximately $12.2 million.

investing activities
Investments in property, plant and equipment during Fiscal 2009 
totaled approximately $8.1 million compared to $3.4 million and 
$14.3 million in Fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively. Our capital 
expenditures in Fiscal 2009 related primarily to the expansion of one 
of our operating facilities and for upgrades to our enterprise resource 
planning system (“ERP system”). The majority of our 2007 capital 
expenditures were used to continue the implementation of our new 
ERP system, and the expansion of two of our operating facilities. 

There were no material proceeds from the sale of fixed assets in 
Fiscal 2009 or 2008. Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets provided 
cash of approximately $0.2 million in Fiscal 2007. Proceeds from 
the sale of fixed assets in Fiscal 2009 and 2007 were primarily from 
the sale of idled manufacturing facilities and equipment.

financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities was approximately $30.4 
million in Fiscal 2009, because we paid down our revolving lines 
of credit and the term loan from the cash flow provided by our 
operating activities. Net cash provided by financing activities 
was approximately $13.8 million in Fiscal 2008. The primary 
source of cash in financing activities in Fiscal 2008 was due to 
borrowings on the US revolving line of credit and proceeds from 
the exercise of stock options, which were used to fund operations 
and capital expenditures. Net cash used in financing activities was 
approximately $4.0 million in Fiscal 2007. The primary use of 
cash in financing activities in Fiscal 2007 was due to payments on 
the US revolving line of credit. 

contractual and other obligations
At September 30, 2009, our long-term contractual obligations were limited to debt and leases. The table below details our commitments 
by type of obligation, including interest if applicable, and the period that the payment will become due (in thousands).

as of september 30, 2009, 
payments Due by period:

long-term Debt  
obligations

operating lease 
 obligations total

Less than 1 year     $ 5,929     $ 2,982   $ 8,911

1 to 3 years 850 5,356 6,206

3 to 5 years 841 2,219 3,060
More than 5 years 3,267 — 3,267

Total long-term contractual obligations     $ 10,887     $ 10,557   $ 21,444
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As of September 30, 2009, the total unrecognized tax benefit 
related to uncertain tax positions was approximately $0.6 million. 
We estimate that none of this will be paid within the next 12 
months. However, we believe that it is reasonably possible that 
within the next 12 months unrecognized tax benefits will decrease 
by approximately $80,000 due to the expiration of certain statutes 
of limitations. We are unable to make reasonably reliable estimates 
regarding the timing of future cash outflows, if any, associated with 
the remaining unrecognized tax benefits.

other commercial commitments
We are contingently liable for secured and unsecured letters of 
credit of $17.6 million as of September 30, 2009, of which $12.6 
million reduces our borrowing capacity.

The following table ref lects potential cash outf lows that may 
result from a contingent event related to our letters of credit  
(in thousands):

as of september 30, 2009, 
payments Due by period: letters of credit

Less than 1 year    $ 9,312

1 to 3 years 7,948

3 to 5 years 135

More than 5 years 159
Total long-term commercial obligations    $ 17,554

We also had performance and maintenance bonds totaling 
approximately $182.8 million that were outstanding at September 
30, 2009. Performance and maintenance bonds are used to 
guarantee contract performance to our customers.

outlook 
We participate in large capital-intensive projects in the oil and gas, 
petrochemical, utility and transportation markets, which can take 
several years to plan and execute. Once our customers begin the 
construction phase, projects are typically completed. Our record 
revenues in Fiscal 2009 were driven by the large number and size 
of capital projects that were planned and initiated over the past 
two years.

However, our backlog of orders going into our fiscal year 2010 
(“Fiscal 2010”) is approximately $365.8 million, a $152.8 million 
decrease from the beginning backlog of orders going into Fiscal 
2009. Throughout the second half of Fiscal 2009, an increasing 
number of our customers began to delay the start of new capital 
projects. We believe these delays resulted from the short-term 
reduction in the demand for oil, uncertainty in the worldwide 
economy and financial markets, as well as increasing uncertainty as 
to the impact that potential regulatory changes could have on their 
business. We believe that this delay in capital project investment 
decisions will subside once financial markets begin to stabilize and 
the impact of regulatory changes can be predicted.

Growth in demand for energy is expected to continue over the long 
term. New infrastructure investments will be needed to ensure the 
available supply of petroleum products. New power generation and 
distribution infrastructure will also be needed to meet the growing 
demand for electrical energy. New power generation plants will 
also be needed to replace the aging facilities across the United 
States, as those plants reach the end of their life cycle. A heightened 
concern for environmental damage, together with the uncertainty 
of gasoline prices, has expanded the popularity of urban transit 
systems and pushed ridership to an all-time high, which will drive 
new investment in transit infrastructure. Opportunities for future 
projects continue; however, the timing of many of these projects is 
difficult to predict.

We believe that cash available and borrowing capacity under 
our existing revolvers should be sufficient to finance anticipated 
operational activities, capital improvements and debt repayments 
for the foreseeable future. During this period of market uncertainty, 
we will continue to monitor the factors that drive our markets. We 
will strive to maintain our leadership and competitive advantage 
in the markets we serve while aligning our cost structures with 
market conditions.

effects of  inflation
We have experienced significant price volatility related to raw 
materials, primarily copper, aluminum and steel, during the past 
three years. Fixed price contracts can limit our ability to pass cost 
increases to our customers, thus negatively impacting our earnings. 
We anticipate that the volatility in commodity prices could impact 
our operations in Fiscal 2010.

critical accounting policies and estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses and the disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on 
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
We believe the following accounting policies and estimates to 
be critical in the preparation and reporting of our consolidated 
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
Our revenues are primarily generated from engineering and 
manufacturing of custom products under long-term contracts 
that may last from one month to several years, depending on the 
contract. Revenues from long-term contracts are recognized on 
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

Under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, 
revenues are recognized as work is performed primarily based on 
the estimated completion to date calculated by multiplying the 
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total contract price by percentage of performance to date, based 
on total costs or total labor dollars incurred to date to the total 
estimated costs or total labor dollars estimated at completion. The 
method used to determine the percentage of completion is typically 
the cost method, unless the labor method is a more accurate 
method of measuring the progress of the project. Application of 
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting requires the 
use of estimates of costs to be incurred for the performance of the 
contract. Contract costs include all direct material, direct labor 
costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such 
as indirect labor, supplies, tools, repairs and all costs associated 
with operation of equipment. The cost estimation process is based 
upon the professional knowledge and experience of the Company’s 
engineers, project managers and financial professionals. Factors 
that are considered in estimating the work to be completed and 
ultimate contract recovery include the availability and productivity 
of labor, the nature and complexity of the work to be performed, 
the effect of change orders, the availability of materials, the effect 
of any delays in our project performance and the recoverability of 
any claims. Changes in job performance, job conditions, estimated 
profitability and final contract settlements, including our estimate 
of liquidated damages, if any, may result in revisions to costs and 
income, with their effects being recognized in the period in which 
the revisions are determined. Whenever revisions of estimated 
contract costs and contract values indicate that the contract costs 
will exceed estimated revenues, thus creating a loss, a provision for 
the total estimated loss is recorded in that period.

Revenues associated with maintenance, repair and service contracts 
are recognized when the services are performed. Expenses related 
to these types of services are recognized as incurred.

allowance for Doubtful accounts
We maintain and continually assess the adequacy of an allowance 
for doubtful accounts representing our estimate for losses resulting 
from the inability of our customers to pay amounts due to us. 
This estimated allowance is based on historical experience of 
uncollected accounts, the level of past due accounts, the overall 
level of outstanding accounts receivable, information about specific 
customers with respect to their inability to make payments and 
expectations of future conditions that could impact the collectibility 
of accounts receivable. However, future changes in our customers’ 
operating performance and cash flows, or in general economic 
conditions, could have an impact on their ability to fully pay 
these amounts, which, among other things, could have a material 
adverse impact on our operating results.

impairment of  long-lived assets
We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-
lived assets, including intangible assets with definite useful lives, 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of an asset may not be fully recoverable. The 
review for impairment of these long-lived assets takes into account 
estimates of future cash flows. For assets held for sale or disposal, 

the fair value of the asset is measured using quoted market prices 
or an estimation of net realizable value. An impairment loss exists 
when estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from 
the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its 
carrying amount.

intangible assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
no longer amortized, but are evaluated for impairment annually, 
or immediately if conditions indicate that impairment could exist. 
The annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets is based on valuation models that incorporate 
assumptions and internal projections of expected future cash flows 
and operating plans.

The costs of intangible assets with determinable useful lives are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives. When certain events or 
changes in operating conditions occur, an impairment assessment 
is performed and lives of intangible assets with determinable lives 
may be adjusted.

accruals for contingent liabilities
From time to time, contingencies such as insurance and legal claims 
arise in the normal course of business. Pursuant to current accounting 
standards, we must evaluate such contingencies to subjectively 
determine the likelihood that an asset has been impaired or a 
liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements, as 
well as evaluating whether the amount of the loss can be reasonably 
estimated. If the likelihood is determined to be probable and it 
can be reasonably estimated, the estimated loss is recorded. The 
amounts we record for insurance claims, warranties, legal and other 
contingent liabilities require judgments regarding the amount of 
expenses that will ultimately be incurred. We use past experience 
and history, as well as the specific circumstances surrounding each 
contingent liability, in evaluating the amount of liability that should 
be recorded. Actual results could differ from our estimates.

warranty costs
We provide for estimated warranty costs at the time of sale based 
upon historical rates applicable to individual product lines. In 
addition, specific provisions are made when the costs of such 
warranties are expected to exceed accruals. We use past experience 
and historical claims to determine the estimated liability. Actual 
results could differ from our estimate.

accounting for income taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, 
based on the income tax laws and rates in the countries in which 
operations are conducted and income is earned. This approach 
requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. 
Developing our provision for income taxes requires significant 
judgment and expertise in federal, international and state income 



25

tax laws, regulations and strategies, including the determination of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities and, if necessary, any valuation 
allowances that may be required for deferred tax assets. We have 
not recorded any valuation allowances as of September 30, 2009, 
because we believe that future taxable income will, more likely 
than not, be sufficient to realize the benefits of those assets as the 
temporary differences in basis reverse over time. Our judgments and 
tax strategies are subject to audit by various taxing authorities.

We adopted new accounting guidance on the accounting for 
uncertainty in income taxes on October 1, 2007. This new 
accounting guidance addresses the determination of whether 
tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return 
should be recorded in the financial statements. The Company may 
recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is 
at least more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained 
on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical 
merits of the positions. The tax benefits recognized in the financial 
statements from such a position should be measured based on the 
largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of 
being realized upon settlement with the taxing authorities. This 
new accounting guidance also provides guidance on derecognition, 
classification, interest and penalties on income taxes, accounting 
in interim periods and requires increased disclosures.

foreign currency translation
The functional currency for our foreign subsidiaries is the local 
currency in which the entity is located. The financial statements of 
all subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the U.S. Dollar 
have been translated into U.S. Dollars. All assets and liabilities of 
foreign operations are translated into U.S. Dollars using year-end 
exchange rates, and all revenues and expenses are translated at 
average rates during the respective period. The U.S. Dollar results 
that arise from such translation, as well as exchange gains and 
losses on intercompany balances of a long-term investment nature, 
are included in the cumulative currency translation adjustments in 
accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity.

Derivative financial instruments
As part of managing our exposure to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates, we periodically utilize foreign exchange forward 
contracts. The objective of these contracts is to minimize impacts 
to cash flows and profitability due to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates on accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
forecasted cash transactions. These contracts are recorded in the 
consolidated balance sheets at fair value, which is based upon an 
income approach consisting of a discounted cash flow model that 
takes into account the present value of the future cash flows under 
the terms of the contracts using current market information as of the 
reporting date, such as foreign currency spot and forward rates.

We formally document our hedging relationships, including 
identifying the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well 
as our risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking 

the hedge transactions. We also formally assess, both at inception 
and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in the cash f lows of the hedged item. The effective 
portion of the change in fair value of a derivative is recorded as 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in 
the consolidated balance sheets. When the hedged item affects 
the income statement, the gain or loss included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income is reported on the same line in the 
consolidated statements of operations as the hedged item. In 
addition, any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of 
derivatives used as cash flow hedges is reported in the consolidated 
statements of operations as the changes occur. If it is determined 
that a derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, or if the 
anticipated transaction is no longer likely to occur, we discontinue 
hedge accounting and any unrealized gains or losses are recorded 
in the consolidated statements of operations.

On January 1, 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance that 
amended and expanded the disclosure requirements related to 
derivative instruments and hedging activities. This guidance 
was issued in response to concerns and criticisms about the lack 
of adequate disclosure of derivative instruments and hedging 
activities. The new guidance is focused on requiring enhanced 
disclosure on: 1) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments 
and hedging activities; 2) how derivative instruments and related 
hedging activities are accounted for and 3) how derivative 
instruments and related hedging activities affect an entity’s cash 
flows, financial position and performance.

To accomplish the three objectives listed above, we are required 
to provide: 1) qualitative disclosures regarding the objectives and 
strategies for using derivative instruments and engaging in hedging 
activities in the context of our overall risk exposure; 2) quantitative 
disclosure in tabular format of the fair values of derivative 
instruments and their gains and losses and 3) disclosures about 
credit-risk related contingent features in derivative instruments.

new accounting pronouncements
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has 
codified a single source of authoritative nongovernmental U.S. 
GAAP, the Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification”). 
While the Codification does not change U.S. GAAP, it introduces 
a new structure that is organized in an easily accessible, user-
friendly on-line research system. The Codification supersedes all 
existing accounting standards documents. All other accounting 
literature not included in the Codification will be considered 
nonauthoritative. Unless needed to clarify a point to readers, we 
will refrain from citing specific section references when discussing 
application of accounting principles or addressing new or pending 
accounting rule changes.

In December 2007, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on 
business combinations. The new guidance establishes principles 
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and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures 
in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the 
liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree 
and the goodwill acquired. The new accounting guidance also 
establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the 
nature and financial effects of the business combination. The new 
guidance is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year 
that begins after December 15, 2008, and will be adopted by us in 
the first quarter of Fiscal 2010. We are currently unable to predict 
the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of this new accounting 
guidance on future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued new accounting guidance for 
noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. This 
new guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for 
ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the 
parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the 
parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent’s 
ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling 
equity investments when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. The new 
accounting guidance also establishes disclosure requirements that 
clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent 
and the interests of the noncontrolling owners. The new guidance 
is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year that begins 
after December 15, 2008, and will be adopted by us in the first 
quarter of Fiscal 2010. We are currently evaluating the potential 
impact of the adoption of this guidance on our consolidated results 
of operations and financial condition.

In April 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding 
the determination of useful lives of intangible assets that amends 
the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or 
extension assumptions used for purposes of determining the useful 
life of a recognized intangible asset. This guidance is intended to 
improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized 
intangible asset under accounting guidance related to goodwill and 
other intangible assets and the period of expected cash flows used 
to measure the fair value of the asset under accounting guidance 
related to business combinations and other U.S. GAAP. This 
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2008, and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of Fiscal 2010. 
Earlier application is not permitted. We are currently evaluating 
the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of this new guidance 
on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
regarding share-based payment transactions that addresses 
whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions 
are participating securities prior to vesting and therefore need to 
be included in the earnings allocation in calculating earnings per 
share under the two-class method. This new accounting guidance 
requires companies to treat unvested share-based payment 
awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend 
equivalents as a separate class of securities in calculating earnings 

per share. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008, and will be adopted by us in the first quarter 
of Fiscal 2010. Earlier application is not permitted. We do not 
expect adoption of this guidance to have a material effect on our 
earnings per share.

In December 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on 
employers’ disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets. 
The disclosures about plan assets required by this new guidance 
shall be provided for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009, 
and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2011. 
We do not expect adoption of this new guidance to have a material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
addressing the interim disclosures about the fair value of financial 
instruments, which amended the previous disclosures regarding the 
fair value of financial instruments, and interim financial reporting. 
This new guidance requires disclosures about the fair value of 
financial instruments in interim financial statements, in addition 
to the annual financial statements as already required. This new 
accounting guidance became effective for interim periods ending 
after June 15, 2009, and was adopted by us in the third quarter of 
Fiscal 2009. The adoption of this new guidance had no material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
regarding the accounting for assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination due to contingencies. This 
new guidance clarifies the initial and subsequent recognition, 
subsequent accounting and disclosure of assets and liabilities 
arising from contingencies in a business combination. This new 
guidance requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 
business combination that arise from contingencies be recognized 
at fair value, if the acquisition–date fair value can be reasonably 
estimated. If the acquisition-date fair value of an asset or liability 
cannot be reasonably estimated, the asset or liability would be 
measured at the amount that would be recognized using the 
accounting guidance related to accounting for contingencies or the 
guidance for reasonably estimating losses. This new accounting 
guidance becomes effective for us on October 1, 2010; however, 
as the provision of the guidance will be applied prospectively to 
business combinations with an acquisition date on or after the 
guidance becomes effective, the impact to us cannot be determined 
until a transaction occurs.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
regarding the determination of fair value when the volume and 
level of activity for assets or liabilities have significantly decreased, 
and identifying transactions that are not orderly. This guidance 
requires an evaluation of whether there has been a significant 
decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability 
in relation to normal market activity for the asset or liability. If 
there has, transactions or quoted prices may not be indicative of fair 



27

value and a significant adjustment may need to be made to those 
prices to estimate fair value. Additionally, an entity must consider 
whether the observed transaction was orderly (that is, not distressed 
or forced). If the transaction was orderly, the obtained price can be 
considered a relevant observable input for determining fair value. 
If the transaction is not orderly, other valuation techniques must 
be used when estimating fair value. This new accounting guidance 
must be applied prospectively for interim periods ending after 
June 15, 2009, and was adopted by us effective June 30, 2009, but 
currently has no impact on our financial statements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures  
about Market Risk
We are exposed to certain market risks arising from transactions 
we have entered into in the normal course of business. These risks 
primarily relate to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates and commodity prices.

interest Rate Risk
We are subject to market risk resulting from changes in interest 
rates related to our floating rate bank credit facility. At September 
30, 2009, $12.6 million was outstanding, bearing interest at 
approximately 3.0% per year. A hypothetical 100 basis point 
increase in variable interest rates would result in a total annual 
increase in interest expense of approximately $126,000. While 
we do not currently have any derivative contracts to hedge our 
exposure to interest rate risk, we have in the past and may in the 
future enter into such contracts. During each of the past three 
years, we have not experienced a significant effect on our business 
due to changes in interest rates.

foreign currency transaction Risk
We have significant operations that expose us to currency risk 
in the British Pound Sterling and to a lesser extent the Euro. 
Amounts invested in our foreign operations are translated into 
U.S. Dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet 
date. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of 
stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance sheets. We believe 
the exposure to the effects that fluctuating foreign currencies 
have on our consolidated results of operations is limited because 
the foreign operations primarily invoice customers and collect 
obligations in their respective currencies or U.S. Dollars and a 
portion of our credit facility is payable in British Pound Sterling. 
Additionally, expenses associated with these transactions are 
generally contracted and paid for in the same local currencies. 
A 10% unfavorable change in the British Pound Sterling-to-U.S. 
Dollar exchange rate would not materially impact our consolidated 
balance sheet at September 30, 2009.

During Fiscal 2009, we entered into four foreign currency 
forward contracts to manage the volatility of future cash flows 
on certain large contracts that are denominated in the British 
Pound Sterling. The contracts are designated as cash flow hedges 

for accounting purposes. The changes in fair value related to the 
effective portion of the hedges are recognized as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income on our consolidated 
balance sheets. At September 30, 2009, a net liability of 
approximately $0.8 million was recorded on our consolidated 
balance sheets related to these transactions.

commodity price Risk
We are subject to market risk from fluctuating market prices of 
certain raw materials. While such materials are typically available 
from numerous suppliers, commodity raw materials are subject 
to price fluctuations. We attempt to pass along such commodity 
price increases to our customers on a contract-by-contract basis 
to avoid a negative effect on profit margin. While we may do so 
in the future, we have not currently entered into any derivative 
contracts to hedge our exposure to commodity risk. We continue 
to experience price volatility with some of our key raw materials 
and components. Fixed price contracts may limit our ability to 
pass cost increases to our customers, thus negatively impacting our 
earnings. Fluctuations in commodity prices may have a material 
impact on our future earnings and cash flows.

Market Risk
We are also exposed to general market and other risk and its 
potential impact on accounts receivable or costs and estimated 
earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts. The 
amounts recorded may be at risk if our customers’ ability to pay 
these obligations is negatively impacted by economic conditions. 
Our customers are typically oil and gas producers, oil and gas 
pipelines, ref ineries, petrochemical plants, electrical power 
generators, public and private utilities, co-generation facilities, 
mining/metals, pulp and paper plants, transportation authorities, 
governmental agencies and other large industrial customers. We 
maintain on-going discussions with customers regarding contract 
status with respect to payment status, change orders and billing 
terms in an effort to monitor collections of amounts billed.
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powell inDustRies, inc. anD suBsiDiaRies consoliDateD Balance sheets
(In thousands, except share and per-share data)

september 30,

assets 2009 2008

current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents     $ 97,403     $ 10,134

 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,607 and $1,180, respectively 114,274 132,446

 Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 46,335 82,574

 Inventories, net 46,252 72,679

 Income taxes receivable 695 149

 Deferred income taxes 3,303 1,518
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,741 3,935

 Total Current Assets 315,003 303,435

Property, plant and equipment, net 61,036 61,546

Goodwill 1,084 1,084

Intangible assets, net 21,305 25,014

Other assets 6,412 6,555

 Total Assets     $ 404,840     $ 397,634

liabilities and stockholders’ equity
current liabilities:

 Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations     $ 4,692     $ 7,814

 Income taxes payable 7,637 7,223

 Accounts payable 48,124 54,168

 Accrued salaries, bonuses and commissions 24,503 26,361

 Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 44,772 39,336

 Accrued product warranty 7,558 6,793
 Other accrued expenses 11,856 11,041

 Total Current Liabilities 149,142 152,736

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current maturities 4,800 33,944

Deferred compensation 2,685 2,821

Postretirement benefit obligation 784 807
Other liabilities 212 204

 Total Liabilities 157,623 190,512

Commitments and Contingencies (Note K)

Minority Interest 456 248

stockholders’ equity:

 Preferred stock, par value $.01; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
 Common stock, par value $.01; 30,000,000 shares authorized; 11,479,610 and 11,403,687  
  shares issued, respectively; 11,479,610 and 11,403,687 shares outstanding, respectively 115 114

 Additional paid-in capital 29,970 26,921

 Retained earnings 219,961 180,244

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (2,716) 335

 Deferred compensation (569) (740)

 Total Stockholders’ Equity 246,761 206,874

 Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     $ 404,840     $ 397,634
 
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



29

powell inDustRies, inc. anD suBsiDiaRies consoliDateD stateMents of opeRations
(In thousands, except per-share data)

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Revenues     $ 665,851     $ 638,704    $ 564,282
Cost of goods sold 520,802 512,298 468,691

Gross profit 145,049 126,406 95,591

Selling, general and administrative expenses 83,414 84,001 77,246

Income before interest, income taxes and minority interest 61,635 42,405 18,345

Interest expense 1,107 2,892 3,501

Interest income (131) (355) (558)

Income before income taxes and minority interest 60,659 39,868 15,402

Income tax provision 20,734 14,072 5,468

Minority interest in net income (loss) 208 (51) 21

Net income     $ 39,717     $ 25,847    $ 9,913

net earnings per common share:
 Basic     $ 3.48     $ 2.29    $ 0.90

 Diluted     $ 3.43     $ 2.26    $ 0.88

weighted average shares:

 Basic 11,424 11,265 11,045

 Diluted 11,591 11,452 11,233

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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powell inDustRies, inc. anD suBsiDiaRies consoliDateD stateMents of stocKholDeRs’ eQuity
(In thousands)

other  
comprehensive  

income

common stock additional 
paid-in 
capital

Retained 
earnings

treasury 
stock

accumulated other  
comprehensive 

income (loss)
Deferred  

compensation totalshares amount

Balance, September 30, 2006 11,002  $ 110  $ 12,776)   $ 144,659    $ (525)      $ 817     $ (906) $ 156,931
Net income  $ 9,913 9,913 9,913
Foreign currency  
 translation adjustments 1,528 1,528 1,528
Amortization of deferred  
 compensation-ESOP 361 361
Exercise of stock options 124 1 2,847 416) 3,264
Stock-based compensation 664) 664
Income tax benefit from stock  
 options exercised 393) 393
Amortization of restricted stock 296) 296
Deferred compensation —  
 restricted stock (13) (13)
Issuance of restricted stock 18 (109) 109) —
Total comprehensive income 11,441 9,913 1,528 11,441
Incremental adjustment to  
 adopt postretirement benefit  
 accounting guidance, net of  
 tax of $116 212 212 212

Balance, September 30, 2007 11,144 111 16,854 154,572 — 2,557 (545) 173,549
Net income 25,847 25,847 25,847
Foreign currency  
 translation adjustments (2,395) (2,395) (2,395)
Amortization of deferred  
 compensation-ESOP 387 387
Exercise of stock options 239 3 4,234 4,237
Stock-based compensation 2,166 2,166
Income tax benefit from stock  
 options exercised 2,510 2,510
Amortization of restricted stock 290 134 424
Deferred compensation —  
 restricted stock 7 111 111
Issuance of restricted stock 14 716 (716)
Adjustment from adoption of  
 accounting guidance on the  
 accounting for uncertainty in  
 income taxes 40 (175) (135)
Postretirement benefit  
 adjustment, net of tax of $97 173 173 173

Total comprehensive income 23,625 25,847 (2,222) 23,625
Balance, September 30, 2008 11,404 114 26,921 180,244 — 335 (740) 206,874
Net income 39,717 39,717 39,717
Foreign currency  
 translation adjustments (2,867) (2,867) (2,867)
Amortization of deferred  
 compensation-ESOP 158 158
Exercise of stock options 31 1 513 514
Stock-based compensation 29 1,623 1,623
Income tax benefit from stock  
 options exercised 291 291
Amortization of restricted stock 476 476
Issuance of restricted stock 16 622 (463) 159
Unrealized loss on cash flow  
 hedges, net of tax of $164 (304) (304) (304)

Postretirement benefit  
 adjustment, net of tax of $67 120 120 120

Total comprehensive income  $ 36,666 39,717 (3,051) 36,666

Balance, September 30, 2009 11,480  $ 115  $ 29,970  $ 219,961   $ —       $ (2,716)    $ (569) $ 246,761

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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powell inDustRies, inc. anD suBsiDiaRies consoliDateD stateMents of cash flows
(In thousands)

year ended,september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Operating Activities:

 Net income   $ 39,717   $ 25,847   $ 9,913

  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

  Depreciation 7,493 8,133 7,688

  Amortization 3,469 3,740 3,876

  Amortization of unearned restricted stock 634 425 296

  Minority interest earnings (loss) 208 (51) 21

  Stock-based compensation 1,622 2,167 651

  Bad debt expense 959 637 1,192

  Deferred income taxes (1,447) 318 (592)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

 Accounts receivable, net 15,392 (27,146) 578

 Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 35,701 (14,062) (25,945)

 Inventories 25,884 (25,513) (19,148)

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3,432) 657 (2,354)

 Other assets (194) —) (1,530)

 Accounts payable and income taxes payable (4,891) (4,916) 18,657

 Accrued liabilities (40) 10,422 7,877

 Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 5,789 13,773 8,883

 Deferred compensation 23 164 1,781

 Other 97 217 316
  Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 126,984 (5,188) 12,160

Investing Activities:

 Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 30 — 175

 Purchases of property, plant and equipment (8,081) (3,428) (14,338)

  Net cash used in investing activities (8,051) (3,428) (14,163)

Financing Activities:

 Borrowings on US revolving line of credit 50,953 229,480 69,385

 Payments on US revolving line of credit (69,953) (212,480) (70,385)

 Borrowings on UK revolving line of credit —) — 2,276

 Payments on UK revolving line of credit (2,388) (1,596) (1,143)

 Payments on UK term loan (4,223) (2,343) (1,564)

 Payments on capital lease obligations (13) (52) (52)

 Payments on short-term financing —) — (623)

 Payments on industrial development revenue bonds (400) (400) (400)

 Payments on deferred acquisition payable (5,220) (5,563) (5,198)

 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 515 4,236 3,264

 Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 291 2,510 393
  Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (30,438) 13,792 (4,047)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 88,495 5,176 (6,050)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,226) (299) 812
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10,134 5,257 10,495

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 97,403   $ 10,134   $ 5,257

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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powell inDustRies, inc. anD  
suBsiDiaRies notes to consoliDateD 
financial stateMents
 
a. Business anD oRganization
Powell Industries, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Powell” or the 
“Company”) was incorporated in the state of Delaware in 2004 
as a successor to a Nevada company incorporated in 1968. The 
Nevada corporation was the successor to a company founded 
by William E. Powell in 1947, which merged into the Company 
in 1977. Our major subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned, 
include: Powell Electrical Systems, Inc.; Transdyn, Inc.; Powell 
Industries International, Inc.; Switchgear & Instrumentation 
Limited and Switchgear & Instrumentation Properties Limited.

We develop, design, manufacture and service custom engineered-
to-order equipment and systems for the management and control 
of electrical energy and other critical processes. Headquartered 
in Houston, Texas, we serve the transportation, environmental, 
energy, industrial and utility industries.

On August 7, 2006, we purchased certain assets related to the 
American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) medium voltage 
switchgear and circuit breaker business of General Electric 
Company’s (“GE”) Consumer & Industrial unit located at its West 
Burlington, Iowa facility. We refer to the acquired product line 
herein as “Power/Vac®.” The operating results of the Power/Vac® 
product line are included from the acquisition date.

B. suMMaRy of significant  
accounting policies
 
principles of  consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Powell and our wholly-owned subsidiaries. The financial position 
and results of operation of our Singapore joint venture, in which we 
hold a majority ownership, have also been consolidated. As a result 
of this consolidation, we record minority interest on our balance 
sheet for our joint venture partner’s share of equity. All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation.

use of  estimates
The preparation of f inancial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
(“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements and accompanying footnotes. The amounts 
we record for insurance claims, warranties, legal and other 
contingent liabilities require judgments regarding the amount of 
expenses that will ultimately be incurred. We base our estimates 
on historical experience and on various other assumptions, as 
well as the specific circumstances surrounding these contingent 
liabilities in evaluating the amount of liability that should be 
recorded. Estimates may change as new events occur, additional 

information becomes available or operating environments change. 
Actual results may differ from our estimates. The most significant 
estimates used in our financial statements affect revenue and cost 
recognition for construction contracts, the allowance for doubtful 
accounts, self-insurance, warranty accruals and postretirement 
benefit obligations.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with 
banks and highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less.

supplemental Disclosures of  cash flow information 
(in thousands):
year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Cash paid during the period for:

 Interest  $ 439  $ 1,447  $ 1,309
 Income taxes, net of refunds 21,527 3,641 2,392

fair value of  financial instruments
Financial instruments include cash, short-term investments, 
marketable securities, receivables, payables and debt obligations. 
Except as described below, due to the short-term nature of the 
investments, the book value is representative of their fair value. 
The carrying value of debt approximates fair value as interest 
rates are indexed to the Federal Funds Rate, the London interbank 
offered rate (“LIBOR”) or the bank’s prime rate.

The deferred acquisition payable was discounted based on a rate 
of approximately 6.6%, which approximated our incremental 
borrowing rate for obligations of a similar nature. The carrying 
value of this debt approximates fair value. For additional information 
regarding the deferred acquisition payable, see Note H.

accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated net of allowances for doubtful 
accounts. We maintain and continually assess the adequacy of the 
allowance for doubtful accounts representing our estimate for losses 
resulting from the inability of our customers to pay amounts due 
to us. This estimated allowance is based on historical experience 
of uncollected accounts, the level of past due accounts, the overall 
level of outstanding accounts receivable, information about specific 
customers with respect to their inability to make payments and 
expectations of future conditions that could impact the collectibility 
of accounts receivable. Future changes in our customers’ operating 
performance and cash flows or in general economic conditions 
could have an impact on their ability to fully pay these amounts, 
which could have a material impact on our operating results. 
In most cases, receivables are not collateralized. However, we 
utilize letters of credit to secure payment on sales when possible. 
At September 30, 2009 and 2008, accounts receivable included 
retention amounts of $8.1 million and $8.5 million, respectively. 
Retention amounts are in accordance with applicable provisions 
of engineering and construction contracts and become due upon 
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completion of contractual requirements. Approximately $0.6 
million of the retained amount at September 30, 2009, is expected 
to be collected subsequent to September 30, 2010.

costs and estimated earnings in excess of   
Billings on uncompleted contracts
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted 
contracts arise when revenues are recorded on a percentage-
of-completion basis but cannot be invoiced under the terms of 
the contract. Such amounts are invoiced upon completion of 
contractual milestones.

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted 
contracts also include certain costs associated with unapproved 
change orders. These costs are included when change order 
approval is probable. Amounts are carried at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value. No profit is recognized on costs incurred until 
change order approval is obtained. The amounts recorded involve 
the use of judgments and estimates; thus, actual recoverable 
amounts could differ from original assumptions. See Note K — 
Commitments and Contingencies for a discussion related to certain 
costs recorded in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 
on uncompleted contracts.

In accordance with industry practice, assets and liabilities 
related to costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on 
uncompleted contracts, as well as billings in excess of costs and 
estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts, have been classified 
as current. The contract cycle for certain long-term contracts may 
extend beyond one year; thus, collection of amounts related to 
these contracts may extend beyond one year.

inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using first-in, 
first-out (FIFO) or weighted-average methods and include the cost 
of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. We use estimates 
in determining the level of reserves required to state inventory at the 
lower of cost or market. Our estimates are based on market activity 
levels, production requirements, the physical condition of products 
and technological innovation. Changes in any of these factors may 
result in adjustments to the carrying value of inventory.

property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged 
to expense when incurred. Expenditures for major renewals and 
improvements, which extend the useful lives of existing equipment, 
are capitalized and depreciated. Upon retirement or disposition of 
property, plant and equipment, the cost and related accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain 
or loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

impairment of  long-lived assets
We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-
lived assets, including intangible assets with definite useful lives, 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of an asset may not be fully recoverable. The 
review for impairment of these long-lived assets takes into account 
estimates of future cash flows. For assets held for sale or disposal, 
the fair value of the asset is measured using quoted market prices 
or an estimation of net realizable value. An impairment loss exists 
when estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from 
the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its 
carrying amount.

intangible assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
no longer amortized, but are evaluated for impairment annually, 
or immediately if conditions indicate that impairment could exist. 
The annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets is based on valuation models that incorporate 
assumptions and internal projections of expected future cash flows 
and operating plans.

The costs of intangible assets with determinable useful lives are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives. When certain events or 
changes in operating conditions occur, an impairment assessment 
is performed and lives of intangible assets with determinable 
lives may be adjusted. For additional information regarding our 
intangible assets, see Note J.

income taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. 
This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of 
assets and liabilities. Developing our provision for income taxes 
requires signif icant judgment and expertise in federal, state 
and international income tax laws, regulations and strategies, 
including the determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities 
and, if necessary, any valuation allowances that may be required 
for deferred tax assets. We have not recorded any valuation 
allowances as of September 30, 2009, because we believe that 
future taxable income will, more likely than not, be sufficient to 
realize the benefits of those assets as the temporary differences 
in basis reverse over time. Our judgments and tax strategies are 
subject to audit by various taxing authorities.

We adopted accounting guidance on the accounting for uncertainty 
in income taxes on October 1, 2007. This guidance addresses the 
determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be 
claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. 
The Company may recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax 
positions only if it is at least more likely than not that the tax position 
will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based 
on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized 
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in the financial statements from such a position should be measured 
based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood 
of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authorities. This 
accounting guidance also provides guidance on derecognition, 
classification, interest and penalties on income taxes, accounting in 
interim periods and requires increased disclosures.

Revenue Recognition
Our revenues are primarily generated from engineering and 
manufacturing of custom products under long-term contracts 
that may last from one month to several years, depending on the 
contract. Revenues from long-term contracts are recognized on 
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

Under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, 
revenues are recognized as work is performed primarily based on 
the estimated completion to date calculated by multiplying the 
total contract price by percentage of performance to date, based 
on total costs or total labor dollars incurred to date to the total 
estimated costs or total labor dollars estimated at completion. The 
method used to determine the percentage of completion is typically 
the cost method, unless the labor method is a more accurate 
method of measuring the progress of the projects. Application of 
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting requires the 
use of estimates of costs to be incurred for the performance of the 
contract. Contract costs include all direct material, direct labor 
costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such 
as indirect labor, supplies, tools, repairs and all costs associated 
with operation of equipment. The cost estimation process is based 
upon the professional knowledge and experience of the Company’s 
engineers, project managers and financial professionals. Factors 
that are considered in estimating the work to be completed and 
ultimate contract recovery include the availability and productivity 
of labor, the nature and complexity of the work to be performed, 
the effect of change orders, the availability of materials, the effect 
of any delays in our project performance and the recoverability of 
any claims. Changes in job performance, job conditions, estimated 
profitability and final contract settlements, including our estimate 
of liquidated damages, if any, may result in revisions to costs and 
income, with their effects being recognized in the period in which 
the revisions are determined. Whenever revisions of estimated 
contract costs and contract values indicate that the contract costs 
will exceed estimated revenues, thus creating a loss, a provision for 
the total estimated loss is recorded in that period.

Revenues associated with maintenance, repair and service contracts 
are recognized when the services are performed. Expenses related 
to these types of services are recognized as incurred.

warranties
We provide for estimated warranty costs at the time of sale based 
upon historical rates applicable to individual product lines. In 
addition, specific provisions are made when the costs of such 
warranties are expected to exceed accruals. Our standard terms 

and conditions of sale include a warranty for parts and service for 
the earlier of 18 months from the date of shipment or 12 months 
from the date of initial operations.

Research and Development expense
Research and development costs are charged to expense as 
incurred. These costs are included as a component of selling, general 
and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. Such amounts were $6.0 million, $6.6 million and 
$5.6 million in fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

foreign currency translation
The functional currency for our foreign subsidiaries is the local 
currency in which the entity is located. The financial statements of 
all subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the U.S. Dollar 
have been translated into U.S. Dollars. All assets and liabilities of 
foreign operations are translated into U.S. Dollars using year-end 
exchange rates, and all revenues and expenses are translated at 
average rates during the respective period. The U.S. Dollar results 
that arise from such translation, as well as exchange gains and 
losses on intercompany balances of a long-term investment nature, 
are included in the cumulative currency translation adjustments in 
accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity.

stock-Based compensation
In the first quarter of fiscal year 2006, we adopted accounting 
guidance that generally requires the recognition of the cost of 
employee services for share-based compensation based on the 
grant date fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued and 
any unearned or deferred compensation (contra-equity accounts) 
related to awards prior to adoption be eliminated against the 
appropriate equity accounts. Also under the new standard, excess 
income tax benefits related to share-based compensation expense 
that must be recognized directly in equity are considered financing 
rather than operating cash flow activities. 

We continue to use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to 
estimate the fair value of our stock options. However, we apply 
expanded guidance for the development of our assumptions used as 
inputs for the Black-Scholes option pricing model for grants issued 
after November 1, 2005. Expected volatility is determined using 
historical volatilities based on historical stock prices for a period 
equal to the expected term. The expected volatility assumption 
is adjusted if future volatility is expected to vary from historical 
experience. The expected term of options represents the period of 
time that options granted are expected to be outstanding and falls 
between the options’ vesting and contractual expiration dates. The 
risk-free interest rate is based on the yield at the date of grant of 
a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond whose maturity period equals 
the option’s expected term.

In July 2006, the Compensation Committee of the Board of 
Directors modified the vesting requirements for stock options upon 
retirement. The committee voted to automatically vest granted 
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options upon retirement at age 60 with 10 years of service or at 
age 62 regardless of service. Stock options are vested at retirement 
and will remain exercisable for the remaining life of the option. All 
other terms of stock options remain the same.

We recognized approximately $0.9 million in selling, general 
and administrative expenses of non-cash compensation expense 
related to the modification at July 31, 2006. After the modification 
adjustment, there was approximately $1.6 million of unrecognized 
non-cash compensation expense related to non-vested stock 
options at September 30, 2006. Of the $1.6 million unrecognized 
compensation expense, $0.7 million was expensed in fiscal year 
2007, $0.5 million was expensed in fiscal year 2008 and $0.3 
million was expensed in fiscal year 2009. The remaining $0.1 
million unrecognized compensation expense at September 30, 
2009, will be expensed during fiscal year 2010. In addition, at 
September 30, 2006, there was approximately $0.3 million of total 
unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock, of 
which $0.2 million was recognized in fiscal year 2007 and $0.1 
million was recognized in fiscal year 2008.

Derivative financial instruments
As part of managing our exposure to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates, we periodically utilize foreign exchange forward 
contracts. The objective of these contracts is to minimize impacts 
to cash flows and profitability due to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates on accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
forecasted cash transactions. These contracts are recorded in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, which is based upon an 
income approach consisting of a discounted cash flow model that 
takes into account the present value of the future cash flows under 
the terms of the contracts using current market information as of the 
reporting date, such as foreign currency spot and forward rates.

We formally document our hedging relationships, including 
identifying the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well 
as our risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking 
the hedge transaction. We also formally assess, both at inception 
and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in the cash f lows of the hedged item. The effective 
portion of the change in fair value of a derivative is recorded as 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. When the hedged item affects 
the income statement, the gain or loss included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income is reported on the same line in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations as the hedged item. In 
addition, any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of 
derivatives used as cash flow hedges is reported in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations as the changes occur. If it is determined 
that a derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, or if the 
anticipated transaction is no longer likely to occur, we discontinue 
hedge accounting and any unrealized gains or losses are recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

On January 1, 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance that 
amended and expanded the disclosure requirements related to 
derivative instruments and hedging activities. This guidance 
was issued in response to concerns and criticisms about the lack 
of adequate disclosure of derivative instruments and hedging 
activities. The new guidance is focused on requiring enhanced 
disclosure on: 1) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments 
and hedging activities; 2) how derivative instruments and related 
hedging activities are accounted for and 3) how derivative 
instruments and related hedging activities affect an entity’s cash 
flows, financial position and performance.

To accomplish the three objectives listed above, we are required 
to provide: 1) qualitative disclosures regarding the objectives and 
strategies for using derivative instruments and engaging in hedging 
activities in the context of our overall risk exposure; 2) quantitative 
disclosure in tabular format of the fair values of derivative 
instruments and their gains and losses and 3) disclosures about 
credit-risk related contingent features in derivative instruments.

The adoption of the new accounting guidance did not have 
an impact on our consolidated financial position or results of 
operations. As a result of the adoption of this guidance, we have 
expanded our disclosures regarding derivative instruments and 
hedging activities with Note L.

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which is included 
as a component of stockholders’ equity net of tax, includes 
unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale marketable 
securities, derivative instruments and currency translation 
adjustments in foreign consolidated subsidiaries.

fair value Measurements
On October 1, 2008, we adopted new accounting guidance on 
fair value measurements. The new guidance defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP 
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. It was 
effective for us beginning October 1, 2008, for certain financial 
assets and liabilities. Refer to Note C for additional information 
regarding our fair value measurements for financial assets and 
liabilities. The new guidance is effective for non-financial assets and 
liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value on a nonrecurring 
basis beginning October 1, 2009. We believe that the adoption of 
the new guidance applicable to non-financial assets and liabilities 
will not have a material effect on our financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows.

new accounting standards
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has 
codified a single source of authoritative nongovernmental U.S. 
GAAP, the Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification”). 
While the Codification does not change U.S. GAAP, it introduces 
a new structure that is organized in an easily accessible, user-
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friendly on-line research system. The Codification supersedes all 
existing accounting standards documents. All other accounting 
literature not included in the Codification will be considered 
nonauthoritative. Unless needed to clarify a point to readers, we 
will refrain from citing specific section references when discussing 
application of accounting principles or addressing new or pending 
accounting rule changes.

In December 2007, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on 
business combinations. The new guidance establishes principles 
and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures 
in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the 
liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree 
and the goodwill acquired. The new accounting guidance also 
establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the 
nature and financial effects of the business combination. The new 
guidance is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year 
that begins after December 15, 2008, and will be adopted by us 
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. We are currently unable 
to predict the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of this new 
accounting guidance on future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued new accounting guidance for 
noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. This 
new guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for 
ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the 
parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the 
parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent’s 
ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling 
equity investments when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. The new 
accounting guidance also establishes disclosure requirements 
that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the 
parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners. The new 
guidance is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year 
that begins after December 15, 2008, and will be adopted by us in 
the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. We are currently evaluating 
the potential impact of the adoption of this guidance on our 
consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In April 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding 
the determination of useful lives of intangible assets that amends the 
factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension 
assumptions used for purposes of determining the useful life of a 
recognized intangible asset. This guidance is intended to improve the 
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset 
under accounting guidance related to goodwill and other intangible 
assets and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the 
fair value of the asset under accounting guidance related to business 
combinations and other U.S. GAAP. This guidance is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and will be adopted 
by us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. Earlier application is not 
permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, 
of the adoption of this new guidance on our consolidated results of 
operations and financial condition.

In June 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
regarding share-based payment transactions that addresses 
whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions 
are participating securities prior to vesting and therefore need to 
be included in the earnings allocation in calculating earnings per 
share under the two-class method. This new accounting guidance 
requires companies to treat unvested share-based payment 
awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend 
equivalents as a separate class of securities in calculating earnings 
per share. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008, and will be adopted by us in the first quarter 
of fiscal year 2010. Earlier application is not permitted. We do not 
expect adoption of this guidance to have a material effect on our 
earnings per share.

In December 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on 
employers’ disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets. 
The disclosures about plan assets required by this new guidance 
shall be provided for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009, 
and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2011. 
We do not expect adoption of this new guidance to have a material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
addressing the interim disclosures about the fair value of financial 
instruments, which amended the previous disclosures regarding the 
fair value of financial instruments, and interim financial reporting. 
This new guidance requires disclosures about the fair value of 
financial instruments in interim financial statements, in addition 
to the annual financial statements as already required. This new 
accounting guidance became effective for interim periods ending 
after June 15, 2009, and was adopted by us in the third quarter of 
fiscal 2009. The adoption of this new guidance had no material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
regarding the accounting for assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination due to contingencies. This 
new guidance clarifies the initial and subsequent recognition, 
subsequent accounting and disclosure of assets and liabilities 
arising from contingencies in a business combination. This new 
guidance requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 
business combination that arise from contingencies be recognized 
at fair value, if the acquisition-date fair value can be reasonably 
estimated. If the acquisition-date fair value of an asset or liability 
cannot be reasonably estimated, the asset or liability would be 
measured at the amount that would be recognized using the 
accounting guidance related to accounting for contingencies or the 
guidance for reasonably estimating losses. This new accounting 
guidance becomes effective for us on October 1, 2010; however, 
as the provision of the guidance will be applied prospectively to 
business combinations with an acquisition date on or after the 
guidance becomes effective, the impact to us cannot be determined 
until a transaction occurs.
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In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance 
regarding the determination of fair value when the volume and 
level of activity for assets or liabilities have significantly decreased, 
and identifying transactions that are not orderly. This guidance 
requires an evaluation of whether there has been a significant 
decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability 
in relation to normal market activity for the asset or liability. If 
there has, transactions or quoted prices may not be indicative of fair 
value and a significant adjustment may need to be made to those 
prices to estimate fair value. Additionally, an entity must consider 
whether the observed transaction was orderly (that is, not distressed 
or forced). If the transaction was orderly, the obtained price can be 
considered a relevant observable input for determining fair value. 
If the transaction is not orderly, other valuation techniques must 
be used when estimating fair value. This new accounting guidance 
must be applied prospectively for interim periods ending after 
June 15, 2009, and was adopted by us effective June 30, 2009, but 
currently has no impact on our financial statements.

c. faiR value MeasuReMents
We measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. New 
accounting guidance defines fair value, establishes a framework 
for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value 
measurements. Fair value is defined as an “exit price” which 
represents the amount that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants as of the measurement date. As such, fair value is a 
market-based measurement that should be determined based on 
assumptions that market participants would use in valuing an asset 
or liability. The new accounting guidance also requires the use of 
valuation techniques to measure fair value that maximize the use 
of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
As a basis for considering such assumptions and inputs, a fair value 
hierarchy has been established which identifies and prioritizes 
three levels of inputs to be used in measuring fair value.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 – Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that 
are observable either directly or indirectly, including: quoted prices 
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not 
active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated 
by observable market data.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no 
market data and require the reporting entity to develop its own 
assumptions.

The following table summarizes the fair value of our assets that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 
2009 (in thousands): 

fair value Measurements at Reporting Date using

Quoted prices in active  
Markets for identical assets

significant other  
 observable inputs

significant  
unobservable inputs

fair value at  
september 30, 2009

(level 1) (level 2) (level 3)

assets

 Cash equivalents         $ 59,324       $ —       $ —     $ 59,324

  Total         $ 59,324       $ —       $ —     $ 59,324

liabilities

 Foreign currency forward contracts        $ —       $ 752       $ —     $ 752
  Total         $ —       $ 752       $ —     $ 752

Cash equivalents, primarily funds held in commercial paper, bank 
notes and money market instruments, are reported at their current 
carrying value which approximates fair value due to the short-
term nature of these instruments and are included in cash and cash 
equivalents in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our commercial 
paper, bank notes and money market instruments are valued 
primarily using quoted market prices and are included in Level 1 
inputs. The fair value at September 30, 2009, for cash equivalents 
was approximately $59.3 million.

Foreign currency forward contracts are valued using an income 
approach which consists of a discounted cash flow model that 

takes into account the present value of future cash flows under the 
terms of the contracts using observable market spot and forward 
rates as of our reporting date, and are included in Level 2 inputs 
in the above table. We use these derivative instruments to mitigate 
non-functional currency transaction exposure on certain contracts 
with customers and vendors. We mitigate derivative credit 
risk by transacting with highly rated counterparties. We have 
evaluated the credit and non-performance risks associated with 
our derivative counterparties and believe them to be insignificant 
at September 30, 2009. All contracts are recorded at fair value 
and marked-to-market at the end of each reporting period, with 
unrealized gains and losses being included in accumulated other 
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comprehensive income on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for 
that period. The $0.8 million net fair value of our foreign currency 
forward contracts was included in other accrued expenses in our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note L for further discussion 
regarding our derivative instruments.

D. stocK-BaseD coMpensation
We have the following stock-based compensation plans: 

We have a Restricted Stock Plan for the benefit of members of 
the Board of Directors of the Company who, at the time of their 
service, are not employees of the Company or any of its affiliates. 
Subject to certain conditions and restrictions as determined by 
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and 
proportionate adjustments in the event of stock dividends, stock 
splits and similar corporate transactions, each eligible director will 
receive 2,000 shares of restricted stock annually. In Fiscal 2009, 
16,000 shares of restricted stock were issued at a price of $38.87 
per share. The maximum aggregate number of shares of stock that 
may be issued under the Restricted Stock Plan is 150,000 and will 
consist of authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of stock, 
or any combination thereof. The restricted stock grants vest 50% 
per year over a two-year period on each anniversary of the grant 
date. Unless terminated by the Board, the Restricted Stock Plan 
will terminate at the close of business on December 16, 2014, and 
no further grants shall be made under the plan after such date. 
Awards granted before such date shall continue to be subject to the 
terms and conditions of the plan and the respective agreements 
pursuant to which they were granted. The total number of shares 
of common stock available under the plan was 84,000 as of 
September 30, 2009.

The 2000 Non-Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended, 
previously had been adopted for the benefit of members of the 
Board of Directors of the Company who, at the time of their 
service, were not employees of the Company or any of its affiliates. 
Following the adoption of the Restricted Stock Plan described 
above, the Compensation Committee ceased the use of this plan 
in making new grants to directors. This plan will maintain its 
effectiveness until all options have been exercised or have expired. 
The total number of shares of our common stock available under 
this plan was approximately 33,000 as of September 30, 2009. 
Stock options granted to the Directors under this plan were non-
qualified and were granted at an exercise price equal to the fair 
market value of the common stock at the date of grant. Generally, 
options granted had expiration terms of seven years from the date 
of grant and vested in full one year from the grant date.

In September 2006, our Board of Directors adopted, and in 
February 2007, our stockholders approved, the 2006 Equity 
Compensation Plan (the “2006 Plan”), which became retroactively 
effective to September 29, 2006. Under the 2006 Plan, any 
employee of the Company and its subsidiaries and consultants are 
eligible to participate in the plan and receive awards. Awards can 

take the form of options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards 
and performance unit awards. A total of 750,000 shares of our 
common stock are available for issuance under the 2006 Plan.

In October 2006, October 2007 and October 2008, we granted 
approximately 107,000, 34,300 and 32,900 restricted stock units 
(“RSU”s), respectively, with a fair value of $31.86, $37.89 and $40.81 
per share, respectively, to certain officers and key employees. The 
fair value of the RSUs was based on the closing price of our common 
stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market (“NASDAQ”) 
on the grant dates. The actual amount of the RSUs earned will 
be based on cumulative earnings per share as reported relative 
to established goals for the three-year performance cycles which 
began October 1 of the year granted, and ranges from 0% to 150% 
of the target RSUs granted. At September 30, 2009, there were 
approximately 94,600 RSUs outstanding with a vesting period of 
three years. The RSUs do not have voting rights of common stock, 
and the shares of common stock underlying the RSUs are not 
considered issued and outstanding until actually issued.

We recorded compensation expense of approximately $1.7 million 
and $2.3 million related to RSUs for the years ended September 
30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. For the year ended September 
30, 2007, no compensation expense was recognized related to the 
RSUs as the required performance targets were not met.

The 1992 Stock Option Plan, as amended (the “1992 Plan”), 
permits us to grant to key employees non-qualified options and stock 
grants, subject to certain conditions and restrictions as determined 
by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and 
proportionate adjustments in the event of stock dividends, stock 
splits and similar corporate transactions. At the April 15, 2005 
Annual Meeting, stockholders approved an amendment to the 
1992 Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance 
under the plan from 2.1 million shares to 2.7 million shares. Stock 
options are granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market 
value of the common stock on the date of the grant. Generally, 
options granted have an expiration date of seven years from the 
grant date and vest in increments of 20% per year over a five-year 
period. Pursuant to the 1992 Plan, option holders who exercise 
their options and hold the underlying shares of common stock for 
five years, vest in a stock grant equal to 20% of the original option 
shares. While restricted until the expiration of five years, the stock 
grant is considered issued at the date of the stock option exercise 
and is included in earnings per share. There were 0.5 million 
shares available to be granted under this plan as of September 30, 
2009. There were no restricted stock grants under the 1992 Plan 
during fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007.
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Stock option activity (number of shares) for us was as follows:

stock options
weighted average  

exercise price

Remaining weighted 
average contractual 

term (years)

aggregate  
intrinsic value 
(in thousands)

Outstanding at September 30, 2006 732,770 17.37

 Granted — —

 Exercised (193,520) 17.13

 Forfeited (33,800) 17.63

Outstanding at September 30, 2007 505,450 17.44

 Granted — —

 Exercised (235,350) 17.79

 Forfeited (2,800) 17.85

Outstanding at September 30, 2008 267,300 17.14

 Granted — —

 Exercised (29,950) 17.15

 Forfeited — —

Outstanding at September 30, 2009 237,350 17.14 2.21      $ 4,068

Exercisable at September 30, 2009 198,350 16.88 2.05      $ 3,348

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2009:

outstanding exercisable

Range of  
exercise prices

number  
outstanding at  

09/30/09

weighted average 
Remaining  

contractual life
weighted average  

exercise price

number  
exercisable at  

09/30/09
weighted average  

exercise price

$13.06 - 15.10 91,400 1.0       $ 15.10 91,400      $ 15.10

16.30 - 18.44 145,950 3.0 18.41 106,950 18.40

Total Options 237,350 2.2 17.14 198,350 16.88

No options were granted during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 
 
e. eaRnings peR shaRe
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per share data):

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

numerator:

Net income  $ 39,717  $ 25,847  $ 9,913

Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings per share-weighted average shares 11,424 11,265 11,045

Dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units 167 187 188

Denominator for diluted earnings per share-adjusted weighted average shares with assumed conversions 11,591 11,452 11,233

net earnings per share:

Basic  $ 3.48  $ 2.29  $ 0.90

Diluted  $ 3.43  $ 2.26  $ 0.88



4040

For the years ended September 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007, there 
were no options to purchase shares excluded from the computation 
of diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices 
were less than the average market price of our common stock.

f. Detail of selecteD  
Balance sheet accounts

allowance for Doubtful accounts
Activity in our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable consisted 
of the following (in thousands):

september 30, 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period   $ 1,180   $ 1,739

Accrued bad debt expense 959 637
Deductions for uncollectible accounts  
 written off, net of recoveries (631) (1,163)

(Decrease) increase due to foreign 
 currency translation 99 (33)

Balance at end of period   $ 1,607   $ 1,180

warranty accrual
Activity in our product warranty accrual consisted of the following 
(in thousands):

september 30, 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period   $ 6,793   $ 5,787

Accrued warranty expense 5,124 3,946

Deductions for warranty charges (4,008) (2,746)

Decrease due to foreign 
 currency translation (351) (194)

Balance at end of period   $ 7,558   $ 6,793

inventories
The components of inventories are summarized below  
(in thousands): 

september 30, 2009 2008

Raw materials, parts and subassemblies   $ 37,655   $ 57,742

Work-in-progress 8,597 14,937

Total inventories   $ 46,252   $ 72,679

cost and estimated earnings on uncompleted 
contracts
The components of costs and estimated earnings and related 
amounts billed on uncompleted contracts are summarized below 
(in thousands):

september 30, 2009 2008

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts  $ 552,805  $ 513,549

Estimated earnings 136,603 120,571

689,408 634,120

Less: Billings to date 687,845 590,882

Net underbilled position $1,563  $ 43,238

Included in the accompanying balance  
 sheets under the following captions:
Costs and estimated earnings in excess  
 of billings on uncompleted contracts  $ 46,335  $ 82,574
Billings in excess of costs and estimated  
 earnings on uncompleted contracts (44,772) (39,336)

Net underbilled position  $ 1,563  $ 43,238

property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are summarized below  
(in thousands): 

september 30, 2009 2008
Range of  

asset lives

Land  $ 7,268  $ 7,628 —

Buildings and improvements 51,056 49,500 3 - 39 Years

Machinery and equipment 51,977 51,037 3 - 15 Years

Furniture and fixtures 3,050 2,992 3 - 10 Years

Construction in process 3,771 508 —

117,122 111,665
Less: Accumulated  
 depreciation (56,086) (50,119)

Total property, plant and  
 equipment, net  $ 61,036  $ 61,546

Included in property and equipment are assets under capital lease 
of approximately $246,000 and $246,000 at September 30, 2009 
and 2008, with related accumulated depreciation of approximately 
$246,000 and $225,000, respectively. Depreciation expense, 
including the depreciation of capital leases, was approximately 
$7.5 million, $8.1 million and $7.7 million for fiscal years 2009, 
2008 and 2007, respectively.
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g. eMployee Benefit plans
 
401(k) plan
We have a defined employee contribution 401(k) plan for substantially 
all of our employees. We match 100% of employee contributions 
up to an employee contribution of 4% of each employee’s salary. 
We recognized expenses of $3.0 million, $2.2 million and $1.7 
million in fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, under 
this plan primarily related to matching contributions.

employee stock ownership plan
We have an employee stock ownership plan (“ESOP”) which 
initially purchased 793,525 shares of the Company’s common 
stock from a major stockholder. The funding for this plan was 
provided through a loan from the Company of $4.5 million in 
1992. This loan has been repaid by the ESOP as of September 30, 
2009. Previously, payments were made over a 20-year period of 
$424,000 per year, including interest at 7%. We recorded deferred 
compensation as a contra-equity account for the amount loaned to 
the ESOP in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. We 
were required to make annual contributions to the ESOP to enable 
it to repay its loan to us. The amount in the deferred compensation 
account was amortized as compensation expense over 20 years as 
employees earned their shares for services rendered. Compensation 
expense for fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007 was approximately 
$158,000, $387,000 and $361,000, respectively, and interest 
income for fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007 was approximately 
$12,000, $38,000 and $63,000, respectively. The receivable from 
the ESOP was recorded as a reduction of stockholders’ equity, and 
the allocated and unallocated shares of the ESOP are treated as 
outstanding common stock in the computation of earnings per 
share. The Company has no current plans to contribute additional 
shares to the ESOP.

Deferred compensation
We offer an unfunded, non-qualif ied deferred compensation 
plan to a select group of management and highly compensated 
individuals. The plan permits the deferral of up to 50% of a 
participant’s base salary and/or 100% of a participant’s annual 
incentive bonus. The deferrals are held in a separate trust, which 
has been established to administer the plan. The assets of the trust 
are subject to the claims of our creditors in the event that we become 
insolvent. Consequently, the trust qualifies as a grantor trust for 
income tax purposes (a “Rabbi Trust”). The assets and liabilities 
of the plan are recorded in other assets and deferred compensation 
in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively. 
Changes in the deferred compensation balance are charged to 
compensation expense. The plan is not qualified under Section 
401 of the Internal Revenue code. There was no compensation 
expense related to this plan in fiscal year 2009. Total assets held by 
the trustee and deferred compensation liabilities were $1.3 million 
at September 30, 2009.

Certain executives were provided an executive benefit plan which 
provides for fixed payments upon normal retirement on or after age 
65 and the completion of at least 10 years of continuous employment. 
The estimated present value of these payments were accrued over 
the service life of these individuals, and $1.4 million is recorded 
in deferred compensation in the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets related to this executive benefit plan. To assist in 
funding the deferred compensation liability, we have invested in 
corporate-owned life insurance policies. The cash surrender value 
of these policies is presented in other assets in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The cash surrender value of life 
insurance policies was $3.7 million at September 30, 2009.

Retiree Medical plan
We have a plan to extend to retirees health benefits which are 
available to active employees under our existing health plans. This 
plan is unfunded. The plan provides coverage for employees with 
at least 10 years of service, age 55 or older but less than 65, who 
retire on or after January 1, 2000. The retiree is required to pay 
the COBRA rate less a subsidy provided by us based on years of 
service at the time of retirement.

For the year ended September 30, 2009, the measurement of 
postretirement benefit expense was based on assumptions used to 
value the postretirement benefit liability as of October 1, 2008, our 
measurement date.

Effective September 30, 2007, we adopted new accounting 
guidance which requires the recognition of actuarial gains or losses, 
prior service costs or credits and transition assets or obligations in 
pension obligations and accumulated other comprehensive income 
that had previously been deferred.

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income 
as of September 30, 2009, consisted of the following on a pretax 
basis (in thousands):

Net actuarial gain    $ (1,067)

Prior service cost 282
 Total recognized in accumulated other  
  comprehensive income    $ (785)

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income as of 
September 30, 2009, expected to be recognized as components 
of net periodic postretirement benefit cost in 2010 were as follows 
(in thousands):

Net actuarial gain    $ (85)

Prior service cost 116

 Total    $ 31
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The following table illustrates the changes in accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation, changes in fair value of assets and 
the funded status of the postretirement benefit plan (in thousands):

september 30, 2009 2008

Changes in postretirement  
 benefit obligation:

 Balance at beginning of year   $ 807   $ 942

 Service cost 60 52

 Interest cost 59 49

 Actuarial loss (gain) (147) (234)

 Benefits paid (38) (2)

 Balance at end of year   $ 741   $ 807

Change in plan assets:

 Fair value of assets at beginning of year   $ —   $ —

 Employer contributions 38 2

 Benefits paid (38) (2)

 Fair value of assets at end of year   $ —   $ —

Reconciliation of funded status:

 Unfunded liability   $ (741)  $ (807)

 Unrecognized prior service cost 282 398

 Unrecognized net actuarial gain (1,067) (996)

Net liability recognized   $ (1,526)  $ (1,405)

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine 
 benefit obligations at September 30:

Discount rate pre-retirement 0.00% 0.00%

Discount rate post-retirement 5.45 7.45

Current year trend rate 9.00 9.00

Ultimate trend rate 5.00 5.00

Year ultimate trend rate reached 2012 2011

If the medical care cost trend rate assumptions were increased 
or decreased by 1% as of September 30, 2009, the effect of this 
change on the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and 
service and interest costs would be an increase of approximately 
$55,000 and $10,000 or a decrease of approximately $49,000 and 
$9,000, respectively.

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Components of net periodic 
 postretirement benefit cost:

 Service cost   $ 60   $ 52   $ 53

 Interest cost 59 49 50

 Prior service cost 115 115 106

 Net gain recognized (75) (79) (71)

 Net periodic postretirement 
  benefit cost   $ 159   $ 137   $ 138

2009 2008

Weighted-average assumptions used to 
 determine benefit costs at September 30:

Discount rate pre-retirement 0.00% 0.00%

Discount rate post-retirement 7.45 6.24

Current year trend rate 9.00 9.00

Ultimate trend rate 5.00 5.00

Year ultimate trend rate reached 2011 2010

Future expected benefit payments as of September 30, 2009, 
related to postretirement benefits for the subsequent five years were 
as follows (in thousands):

year ending september 30, expected Benefit payments

2010           $ 33

2011 46

2012 49

2013 58

2014 59

2015 through 2019 434

 
h. long-teRM DeBt
Long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands): 

september 30, 2009 2008

US Revolver    $ —   $ 19,000

UK Revolver — 2,726

UK Term Loan — 4,907

Deferred acquisition payable 4,292 9,512
Industrial development  
 revenue bonds 5,200 5,600

Capital lease obligations — 13
Subtotal long-term debt and  
 capital lease obligations 9,492 41,758

Less current portion (4,692) (7,814)

Total long-term debt and  
 capital lease obligations    $ 4,800   $ 33,944
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The annual maturities of long-term debt as of September 30, 2009, 
were as follows (in thousands):

year ending september 30, long-term Debt Maturities

2010          $ 4,692

2011 400

2012 400

2013 400

2014 400

Thereafter 3,200

 Total long-term debt maturities          $ 9,492

 
us and uK Revolvers
In December 2007 and 2008, we amended our existing credit 
agreement (“Amended Credit Agreement”) with a major domestic 
bank and certain other financial institutions. This amendment to 
our credit facility was made to expand our US borrowing capacity 
to provide additional working capital support for the Company. 
The Amended Credit Agreement continues to provide for a 1) $58.5 
million revolving credit facility (“US Revolver”); 2) £4.0 million 
(pound sterling) (approximately $6.4 million) revolving credit facility 
(“UK Revolver”) and 3) £6.0 million (approximately $9.6 million) 
single advance term loan (“UK Term Loan”). The UK Term Loan 
was repaid in September 2009 and may not be reborrowed (see 
below). Expenses associated with the issuance of the original credit 
agreement are classified as deferred loan costs, totaled $576,000 
and are being amortized as a non-cash charge to interest expense. 
Obligations are collateralized by the stock of our subsidiaries. 

The interest rate for amounts outstanding under the Amended 
Credit Agreement for the US Revolver is a floating rate based 
upon the higher of the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, or the bank’s 
prime rate. Once the applicable rate is determined, a margin 
ranging from -0.5% to 0.5%, as determined by our consolidated 
leverage ratio, is added to the applicable rate. The interest rate for 
amounts outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement for 
the UK Revolver is a floating rate based upon the LIBOR plus 
a margin which can range from 1.25% to 2.25%, as determined 
by our consolidated leverage ratio as defined within the Amended 
Credit Agreement. 

The US Revolver and the UK Revolver provide for the issuance 
of letters of credit which would reduce the amounts which may 
be borrowed under the respective revolvers. The amount available 
under the US Revolver is reduced by $12.6 million for our 
outstanding letters of credit at September 30, 2009. There were no 
letters of credit outstanding under the UK Revolver.

There were no borrowings outstanding under the US Revolver or 
the UK Revolver as of September 30, 2009. Amounts available 
under the US Revolver and the UK Revolver were approximately 
$45.9 million and $6.4 million, respectively, at September 

30, 2009. The US Revolver and the UK Revolver expire on 
December 31, 2012.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains certain covenants and 
restricts our ability to pay dividends. It contains financial covenants 
defining various financial measures and the levels of these measures 
with which we must comply, as well as a “material adverse change” 
clause. A “material adverse change” is defined as a material change 
in the operations, business, properties, liabilities or condition 
(financial or otherwise) of us or a material impairment of the ability 
of us to perform our obligations under our debt agreements.

The Amended Credit Agreement’s principal financial covenants 
include: 

Minimum Tangible Net Worth — The Amended Credit Agreement 
requires consolidated tangible net worth (stockholders’ equity, less 
intangible assets) as of the end of each quarter to be greater than 
the sum of $172,500,000, plus an amount equal to 50% of our 
consolidated net income for each fiscal quarter, plus an amount 
equal to 100% of the aggregate increase in stockholders’ equity by 
reason of the issuance and sale of any equity interests.

Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio — The Amended Credit 
Agreement requires that the consolidated fixed charge coverage 
ratio be greater than 1.25 to 1.00. The consolidated fixed charge 
calculation is income before interest and income taxes, increased by 
depreciation and amortization expense (EBITDA) and reduced by 
income taxes and capital expenditures for the previous 12 months, 
divided by the sum of payments on long-term debt, excluding the 
US Revolver and the UK Revolver and interest expense, during 
the previous 12 months.

Maximum Leverage Ratio — The Amended Credit Agreement 
requires that the ratio be less than 2.75 to 1.00 for the quarter 
ended September 30, 2009, and thereafter. The maximum leverage 
ratio is the sum of total long-term debt and outstanding letters of 
credit, less industrial development revenue bonds, divided by the 
EBITDA for the previous 12 months.

The Amended Credit Agreement is collateralized by a pledge 
of 100% of the voting capital stock of each of our domestic 
subsidiaries and 66% of the voting capital stock of each non-
domestic subsidiary of ours. The Amended Credit Agreement 
provides for customary events of default and carries cross-default 
provisions with our existing subordinated debt. If an event of 
default (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) occurs and 
is continuing, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in 
the Amended Credit Agreement, amounts outstanding under the 
Amended Credit Agreement may be accelerated and may become 
or be declared immediately due and payable. As of September 30, 
2009, we were in compliance with all of the financial covenants of 
the Amended Credit Agreement.



4444

uK term loan
The UK Term Loan provided £6.0 million, or approximately 
$9.6 million, for f inancing the acquisition of Switchgear & 
Instrumentation Limited. Approximately £5.0 million, or 
approximately $8.0 million, of this facility was used to finance the 
portion of the purchase price of Switchgear & Instrumentation 
Limited that was denominated in pounds sterling. The remaining 
£1.0 million, or approximately $1.6 million, was utilized as the 
initial working capital for the surviving business of Switchgear & 
Instrumentation Limited that we operate (referred to as “S&I”). 
Quarterly installments of £300,000, or approximately $478,000, 
began March 31, 2006, with the final payment due on December 
31, 2010. The UK Term Loan was repaid in September 2009 and 
may not be reborrowed. The interest rate for amounts outstanding 
under the UK Term Loan is a floating rate based upon LIBOR 
plus a margin which can range from 1.25% to 2.25% as determined 
by our consolidated leverage ratio as defined within the Amended 
Credit Agreement.

Deferred acquisition payable
In connection with the acquisition of the Power/Vac® product line, 
$8.5 million of the total purchase price of $32.0 million was paid 
to General Electric Company at closing on August 7, 2006. The 
remaining balance of the purchase price of $23.5 million is payable 
in four installments every 10 months over the next 40 months 
following the acquisition date. The remaining deferred installments 
result in a discounted deferred acquisition payable of approximately 
$4.3 million at September 30, 2009, based on an assumed discount 
rate of 6.6%. The entire balance of this deferred acquisition payable 
is classified as current and is included in the current portion of long-
term debt as this payment is due in December 2009.

industrial Development Revenue Bonds
We borrowed $8.0 million in October 2001 through a loan 
agreement funded with proceeds from tax-exempt industrial 
development revenue bonds (“Bonds”). These Bonds were issued 
by the Illinois Development Finance Authority and were used 
for the completion of our Northlake, Illinois facility. Pursuant to 
the Bond issuance, a reimbursement agreement between us and 
a major domestic bank required an issuance by the bank of an 
irrevocable direct-pay letter of credit (“Bond LC”) to the Bonds’ 
trustee to guarantee payment of the Bonds’ principal and interest 
when due. The Bond LC is subject to both early termination 
and extension provisions customary to such agreements, as well 
as various covenants, for which we are in compliance. While the 
Bonds mature in 2021, the reimbursement agreement requires 
annual redemptions of $400,000 that commenced on October 25, 
2002. A sinking fund is used for the redemption of the Bonds. At 
September 30, 2009, the balance in the restricted sinking fund 
was approximately $434,000 and was recorded in cash and cash 
equivalents. The Bonds bear interest at a floating rate determined 
weekly by the Bonds’ remarketing agent, which was the underwriter 
for the Bonds and is an affiliate of the bank. This interest rate was 
0.6% per year on September 30, 2009.

i. incoMe taxes
The net deferred income tax asset (liability) was comprised of the 
following (in thousands):

september 30, 2009 2008

Current deferred income taxes:

 Gross assets  $ 9,457   $ 8,505

 Gross liabilities (6,154) (6,987)

  Net current deferred income tax asset 3,303 1,518

Noncurrent deferred income taxes:

 Gross assets 3,894 3,600

 Gross liabilities (2,703) (2,071)

 Net noncurrent deferred income tax asset 1,191 1,529

  Net deferred income tax asset  $ 4,494   $ 3,047

At September 30, 2009 and 2008, the noncurrent deferred 
income tax asset was included in other assets on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

The tax effect of temporary differences between GAAP accounting 
and federal income tax accounting creating deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

september 30, 2009 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 40   $ 330

Workers’ compensation 388 340

Stock-based compensation 458 340

Reserve for accrued employee benefits 2,431 1,972

Warranty accrual 2,900 2,692

Uncompleted long-term contracts (6,155) (6,987)

Depreciation and amortization (627) (143)

Deferred compensation 1,062 1,341

Postretirement benefits liability 396 201

Accrued legal 93 65

Uniform capitalization and inventory 3,495 3,212

Software development costs (488) (483)

Other 501 167

 Net deferred income tax asset  $ 4,494   $ 3,047
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Income before interest, income taxes and minority interest was as 
follows (in thousands):

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007)

U.S.  $ 56,115   $ 35,089  $ 11,329

Other than U.S. 4,544 4,779 4,073
 Income from continuing 
  operations before  
  provision for income taxes  $ 60,659   $ 39,868  $ 15,402

The components of the income tax provision were as follows  
(in thousands): 

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Current:

 Federal   $ 18,028   $ 10,487   $ 3,904

 State 2,910 1,628 641

 Foreign 1,146 1,601 1,626

 Deferred (1,350) 356 (703)

 Total income tax  
  provision   $ 20,734   $ 14,072   $ 5,468

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. income tax rate and 
the effective income tax rate, as computed on earnings before 
income tax provision in each of the three years presented in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, was as follows:

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
State income taxes,  
 net of federal benefit 3 3 3

International withholding tax (1) — —

Other permanent tax items — (1) (2)

Foreign rate differential (1) (1) (1)

Domestic production  
 activities deduction (2) (1) —

Effective rate 34% 35% 35%

Our provision for income taxes reflects an effective tax rate on 
earnings before income taxes of 34% in fiscal year 2009 compared 
to 35% in both fiscal years 2008 and 2007, respectively. The 
decrease in the effective tax rate resulted from an agreement 
reached with the taxing authorities in the United Kingdom related 
to foreign tax credits from previous years.

We have not recorded deferred income taxes on the undistributed 
earnings of our foreign subsidiaries because of management’s 
intent to indefinitely reinvest such earnings. Upon distribution of 
these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, we may be 
subject to U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes. It is 
not practical, however, to estimate the amount of taxes that may be 
payable on the eventual remittance of these earnings.

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2008, we adopted accounting 
guidance on the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. 
Upon adoption of the guidance, we recorded a $0.3 million 
increase in our tax reserves, an offsetting decrease of $0.2 million 
to retained earnings for uncertain tax positions and an increase 
in deferred income tax assets of $0.1 million. As of the adoption 
date, we had total tax reserves of approximately $1.2 million. This 
reserve includes an estimate of potential interest and penalties 
on estimated liabilities for uncertain tax positions, which were 
recorded as components of income tax expense, in the amount 
of $135,000 as of September 30, 2009. A reconciliation of the 
beginning and ending amount of the unrecognized tax benefits 
follows (in thousands):

Balance as of September 30, 2008  $ 997

 Increases related to tax positions taken during a prior period 229

 Decreases related to expectations of statute of limitations (638)

Balance as of September 30, 2009  $ 588

Our continuing policy is to recognize interest and penalties related 
to income tax matters as tax expense. The amount of interest and 
penalty expense recorded for the year ended September 30, 2009, 
was not material.

There was no material change in the net amount of unrecognized 
tax benefits in the year ended September 30, 2009. Management 
believes that it is reasonably possible that within the next 12 months, 
the total unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by approximately 
13% due to the expiration of certain statutes of limitations in 
various state and local jurisdictions.

We are subject to income tax in the United States, multiple state 
jurisdictions and a few international jurisdictions, primarily the 
United Kingdom. For United States federal income tax purposes, 
all years prior to 2007 are closed. The Internal Revenue Service 
(“IRS”) recently completed an examination of the returns for 
the 2005 and 2006 tax years. No material adjustments were 
identified during the examination. We do not consider any state 
in which we do business to be a major tax jurisdiction. We remain 
open to examination in the United Kingdom for tax years 2006 
to present. We recently reached an agreement with the taxing 
authorities in the United Kingdom resulting in a reduction in tax 
expense of approximately $568,000 related to foreign tax credits 
from previous years.
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Management believes that an adequate provision has been made 
for any adjustments that may result from tax examinations. 
However, the outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted with 
certainty. If any issues addressed in our tax audits are resolved 
in a manner not consistent with management’s expectations, we 
could be required to adjust our provision for income tax in the 
period such resolution occurs. Although timing of the resolution 
and/or closure of audits is highly uncertain, we do not believe it 
is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits would 
materially change in the next 12 months.

J. gooDwill anD otheR intangiBle assets
Our intangible assets consist of (1) goodwill which is not being 
amortized and (2) patents, trademarks, tradenames, non-compete 
agreements, a supply agreement and purchased technologies which 
are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill and other 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are no longer subject 
to amortization. We test for impairment of goodwill annually, or 
immediately if conditions indicate that impairment could exist. 
Intangible assets with definite useful lives continue to be amortized 
over their estimated useful lives. No impairment was identified as 
a result of performing our annual impairment test for fiscal years 
2009, 2008 or 2007.

Estimated amortization expense for each of the five subsequent 
fiscal years is expected to be (in thousands):

year ending september 30, total

2010          $ 3,555

2011 3,399

2012 2,262

2013 1,474

2014 1,474

 
K. coMMitMents anD contingencies
 
long-term Debt
See Note H herein for discussion of our long-term debt. 

leases
We lease certain offices, facilities and equipment under operating 
leases expiring at various dates through 2014. At September 30, 
2009, the minimum annual rental commitments under leases 
having terms in excess of one year were as follows (in thousands):

year ending september 30, operating leases

2010          $ 2,982

2011 2,806

2012 2,550

2013 1,539

2014 680

Thereafter —

 Total lease commitments          $ 10,557

Lease expense for all operating leases was $3.1 million, $2.7 
million and $2.4 million for fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.

letters of  credit and Bonds
Certain customers require us to post bank letter of credit guarantees 
or performance bonds issued by a surety. These guarantees and 
performance bonds assure our customers that we will perform 

A summary of goodwill, intangible and other assets follows (in thousands): 

september 30, 2009 2008

historical cost
accumulated 
amortization historical cost

accumulated
 amortization

Goodwill not subject to amortization     $ 1,265    $ 181      $ 1,265     $ 181

Intangible assets subject to amortization:

 Supply agreement — Power/Vac® 17,580 3,709 17,580 2,538

 Non-compete agreements 4,170 2,643 4,170 1,809

 Patents and Trademarks 804 804 804 774

 Tradenames and unpatented technology 11,444 5,537 11,938 4,358

Deferred loan costs 829 649 809 620

    $ 36,092     $ 13,523      $ 36,566     $ 10,280
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under the terms of our contract and with associated vendors and 
subcontractors. In the event of default, the customer may demand 
payment from the bank under a letter of credit or performance by 
the surety under a performance bond. To date, there have been no 
significant expenses related to either for the periods reported. We 
were contingently liable for secured and unsecured letters of credit 
of $12.6 million as of September 30, 2009, under our Amended 
Credit Agreement. We also had performance and maintenance 
bonds totaling approximately $182.8 million that were outstanding, 
with additional bonding capacity of approximately $117.2 million 
available, at September 30, 2009.

In March 2007, we renewed and amended our facility agreement 
(“Facility Agreement”) between S&I and a large international 
bank. The Facility Agreement provides S&I with (1) £10.0 million 
in bonds (approximately $15.9 million); (2) £2.5 million of forward 
exchange contracts and currency options (approximately $4.0 
million) and (3) the ability to issue bonds and enter into forward 
exchange contracts and currency options. At September 30, 2009, 
we had outstanding a total of £3.1 million, or approximately $4.9 
million, of obligations under this Facility Agreement.

The Facility Agreement is secured by a guarantee from Powell. The 
Facility Agreement’s principal financial covenants are the same as 
those discussed in Note H for the Amended Credit Facility. The 
Facility Agreement provides for customary events of default and 
carries cross-default provisions with our Amended Credit Facility. 
If an event of default (as defined in the Facility Agreement) occurs 
and is continuing, on the terms and subject to the conditions set 
forth in the Facility Agreement, obligations outstanding under 
the Facility Agreement may be accelerated and may become or be 
declared immediately due and payable.

litigation
We are involved in various legal proceedings, claims and other 
disputes arising in the ordinary course of business which, in 
general, are subject to uncertainties and the outcomes are not 
predictable. We do not believe that the ultimate conclusion of 
these disputes could materially affect our financial position or 
results of operations.

other contingencies
We previously entered into a construction joint venture agreement 
to supply, install and commission a Supervisory Control and 
Data Acquisition System (“SCADA”) to monitor and control the 
distribution and delivery of fresh water to the City and County of 
San Francisco Public Utility Commission (“Commission”). The 
project was substantially completed and has been performing 
to the satisfaction of the Commission. However, various factors 
outside of our control and the control of our joint venture 
partner caused numerous changes and additions to the work that 
in turn delayed the completion of the project. The Commission 
withheld liquidated damages and earned contract payments 
from the joint venture. We made claims against the Commission 

for various matters, including compensation for extra work and 
delay to the project.

The joint venture, of which we are the managing partner, and the 
Commission reached an agreement through mediation in April 
2009. The settlement required the Commission to pay the joint 
venture $5.9 million, of which $2.5 million was previously paid in 
December 2008, resulting from the previously issued jury verdict 
in our favor. An additional payment of $2.5 million was received 
in May 2009, and the final payment of $0.9 million was received 
in July 2009. This settlement resulted in an increase in revenue of 
approximately $3.5 million, reduced by legal and other expenses 
of approximately $0.7 million during fiscal 2009. 

l. DeRivative instRuMents anD heDging 
stRategies
We operate in various countries and have a significant operation 
in the United Kingdom. These international operations expose 
us to market risk associated with foreign currency exchange rate 
fluctuations. We have entered into certain forward contracts to 
hedge the risk of foreign currency rate fluctuations. To the extent 
we choose to manage volatility associated with the net exposures, 
we enter into various financial transactions which we account 
for using the applicable accounting guidance for derivative 
instruments and hedging activities. Our objective is to hedge the 
variability in forecasted cash flow due to the foreign currency risk 
(U.S. Dollar/British Pound Sterling exchange rate) associated with 
certain contracted sales. As of September 30, 2009, we held only 
derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges.

In order for a derivative to qualify for hedge accounting, the 
derivative must be formally designated as a cash flow hedge by 
documenting the relationship between the derivative and the 
hedged item. The documentation includes a description of the 
hedging instrument, the hedge item, the risk being hedged, our 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge, the method for assessing the effectiveness of the hedge and 
the method for measuring hedge ineffectiveness. Additionally, 
the hedge relationship must be expected to be highly effective 
at offsetting changes in either the fair value or cash flows of 
the hedged item at both inception of the hedge and on an on-
going basis. We assess the on-going effectiveness of our hedges 
in accordance with the Cumulative Dollar-Offset Approach, and 
measure and record hedge ineffectiveness at the end of each fiscal 
quarter, as necessary.

All derivatives are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
at their fair value and classified based on the instrument’s maturity 
date. The total notional amount of outstanding derivatives as of 
September 30, 2009, was approximately $13.0 million.
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The following table presents the fair value of derivative instruments included with the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 
2009 (in thousands):

asset Derivatives liability Derivatives

Balance sheet location fair value Balance sheet location fair value

Derivatives designated as  
 hedging instruments:

 Foreign exchange forwards Prepaid expenses and other current assets    $ — Other accrued expenses    $ 752

 Foreign exchange forwards Deferred income taxes 164 Other liabilities —

Total derivatives     $ 164     $ 752

 
 
The following table presents the amounts affecting the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended September 30, 2009:

 

amount of gain (loss) 
Recognized in other 

comprehensive income 
on Derivatives(1)

location of gain (loss)  
Reclassified from  

accumulated other  
comprehensive income  

into income

amount of gain (loss)  
Reclassified from  

accumulated other  
comprehensive income  

into income(1)

Derivatives designated
year ended  

september 30, 2009
year ended  

september 30, 2009

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Foreign exchange forwards        $ (467) Other income (expense)           $ 22

Total designated cash flow hedges        $ (467)            $ 22

(1) For the year ended September 30, 2009, we recorded in other (income) expense an immaterial amount of ineffectiveness from cash flow hedges.

Refer to Note C for a description of how the above financial instruments are valued in accordance with the fair value measurement 
accounting guidance for the year ended September 30, 2009.

cash flow hedges
The purpose of our foreign currency hedging activities is to 
protect us from the risk that the eventual cash flows resulting from 
transactions that are currently denominated in British Pounds 
Sterling will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. 
We are currently hedging our exposure to the reduction in value 
of forecasted foreign currency cash flows through foreign currency 
forward agreements through August 15, 2011.

All changes in the fair value of outstanding cash f low hedge 
derivatives, except the ineffective portion, are recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive income, until net income is 
affected by the variability of cash flows of the hedged transaction. 
In most cases, amounts recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive income will be released to net income some time 
after the maturity of the related derivative. The Consolidated 
Statements of Operations’ classification of effective hedge results 
is the same as that of the underlying exposure. Results of hedges 
of revenue and product costs are recorded in revenue and costs 
of sales, respectively, when the underlying hedged transaction 
affects net income. Results of hedges of selling and administrative 
expense are recorded together with those costs when the related 
expense is recorded. In addition, any ineffective portion of the 

changes in the fair value of the derivatives designated as cash flow 
hedges are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
as the changes occur.

As of September 30, 2009, approximately $0.3 million of deferred 
net losses (net of tax) on outstanding derivatives recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive income are expected to 
be reclassified to net income during the next 12 months as a 
result of underlying hedged transactions being recorded in net 
income. Actual amounts ultimately reclassified to net income are 
dependent on the exchange rates in effect when the derivative 
contracts that are currently outstanding mature. As of September 
30, 2009, the maximum term over which we are hedging exposure 
to the variability of cash flows for our forecasted and recorded 
transactions is 23 months.

We formally assess both at a hedge’s inception and on an ongoing 
basis, whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging 
transaction have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the 
cash flows of hedged items and whether those derivatives may be 
expected to remain highly effective in future periods. Effectiveness 
for cash flow hedges is assessed based on forward rates. 
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We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when (1) we 
determine that the derivative is no longer highly effective in 
offsetting changes in the cash flows of a hedged item (including 
hedged items such as firm commitments or forecasted transactions); 
(2) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (3) it 
is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur or 
(4) management determines that designating the derivative as a 
hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

When we discontinue hedge accounting because it is no longer 
probable that the forecasted transaction will occur in the originally 
expected period, the gain or loss on the derivative remains in 
accumulated other comprehensive income and is reclassified to 
net income when the forecasted transaction affects net income. 
However, if it is probable that a forecasted transaction will not 
occur by the end of the originally specified time period or within 
an additional two-month period of time thereafter, the gains and 
losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income 
will be recognized immediately in net income. In all situations 
in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative 
remains outstanding, we will carry the derivative at its fair value 
on the balance sheet, recognizing future changes in the fair value 
in selling, general and administrative expense. For the year 
ended September 30, 2009, we recorded in selling, general and 
administrative expense an immaterial amount of ineffectiveness 
from cash flow hedges.

credit Risk
We are exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-
performance by counterparties to hedging instruments. Recently, 
the ability of financial counterparties to perform under financial 
instruments has become less certain. We attempt to take into 
account the financial viability of counterparties in both valuing 
the instruments and determining their effectiveness as hedging 
instruments. If a counterparty was unable to perform, our ability 
to qualify for hedging certain transactions would be compromised 
and the realizable value of the financial instruments would be 
uncertain. As a result, our results of operations and cash flows 
would be impacted.

M. Business segMents
We manage our business through operating subsidiaries, which are 
comprised of two reportable business segments: Electrical Power 
Products and Process Control Systems. Electrical Power Products 
includes equipment and systems for the distribution and control 
of electrical energy. Process Control Systems consists principally 
of instrumentation, computer controls, communications and data 
management systems to control and manage critical processes.

The tables below ref lect certain information relating to our 
operations by business segment. All revenues represent sales from 
unaffiliated customers. The accounting policies of the business 
segments are the same as those described in the summary of 
significant accounting policies. Corporate expenses and certain 

assets are allocated to the operating business segments primarily 
based on revenues. The corporate assets are mainly cash, cash 
equivalents and marketable securities.

Detailed information regarding our business segments is shown 
below (in thousands):

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Revenues:

 Electrical Power Products  $ 637,845  $ 611,470 $ 541,584

 Process Control Systems 28,006 27,234 22,698

  Total  $ 665,851  $ 638,704 $ 564,282

Gross profit:

 Electrical Power Products  $ 133,629  $ 118,171 $ 89,044

 Process Control Systems 11,420 8,235 6,547

  Total  $ 145,049  $ 126,406 $ 95,591
Income (loss) before income  
 taxes and minority interest:

 Electrical Power Products  $ 56,700  $ 38,241 $ 14,781

 Process Control Systems 3,959 1,627 621

  Total  $ 60,659  $ 39,868 $ 15,402

september 30, 2009 2008

Identifiable tangible assets:

 Electrical Power Products     $ 258,012  $ 342,105

 Process Control Systems 6,863 8,734

 Corporate 117,398 20,507

  Total     $ 382,273  $ 371,346

In addition, the Electrical Power Products business segment 
had approximately $1,084,000 and $1,084,000 of goodwill and 
$21,305,000 and $25,014,000 of intangible and other assets as of 
September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and corporate had 
approximately $180,000 and $189,000 of deferred loan costs, as of 
September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, which are not included 
in identifiable tangible assets above.
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geographic information
Revenues are as follows (in thousands): 

year ended september 30, 2009 2008 2007

Europe (including former  
 Soviet Union)  $ 30,582 $ 50,807 $ 28,118

Far East 62,155 13,092 27,600

Middle East and Africa 28,405 55,960 58,879
North, Central and South  
 America (excluding U.S.) 28,737 49,772 76,964

United States 515,972 469,073 372,721

  Total revenues  $ 665,851 $ 638,704 $ 564,282

The United States is the only country that accounted for more than 
10% of consolidated revenues in fiscal years 2009, 2008 or 2007.

september 30, 2009 2008

Long-lived assets:

 United States     $ 53,503  $ 52,943

 United Kingdom 7,481 8,563

 Other 52 40

  Total     $ 61,036  $ 61,546

Long-lived assets consist of property, plant and equipment net of 
accumulated depreciation.

n. QuaRteRly Results of opeRations (unauDiteD)
The table below sets forth the unaudited consolidated operating results by fiscal quarter for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 
2008 (in thousands, except per share data):

2009 Quarters

first second third fourth 2009

Revenues    $ 170,489   $ 164,099   $ 165,942   $ 165,321   $ 665,851

Gross profit 34,502 33,844 41,107 35,596 145,049

Net income 7,853 8,852 13,138 9,874 39,717

Basic earnings per share 0.69 0.78 1.15 0.86 3.48

Diluted earnings per share 0.68 0.77 1.14 0.85 3.43

2008 Quarters

first second third fourth 2009

Revenues    $ 147,121   $ 160,333   $ 164,123   $ 167,127   $ 638,704

Gross profit 26,695 30,692 35,002 34,017 126,406

Net income 3,586 6,029 7,893 8,339 25,847

Basic earnings per share 0.32 0.54 0.70 0.73 2.29

Diluted earnings per share 0.32 0.53 0.69 0.72 2.26

The sum of the individual earnings per share amounts may not agree with year-to-date earnings per share as each period’s computation 
is based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period.
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o. suBseQuent events
Subsequent events have been evaluated for recognition and 
disclosure through December 9, 2009, the date of the filing of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC.

On October 21, 2009, we announced that we have entered into 
a definitive asset purchase agreement and two related purchase 
agreements with PowerComm Inc., and its subsidiaries Redhill 
Systems Ltd., Nextron Corporation, PCG Technical Services 
Inc. and Concorde Metal Manufacturing Ltd., each an Alberta 
corporation, pursuant to which we propose to acquire the 
business and substantially all of the assets of PowerComm Inc. 
and its subsidiaries. The aggregate purchase price set forth in the 
agreements calls for an initial payment of $24.2 million ($25.5 
million CAD) in cash and a potential subsequent payment of up to 
$7.6 million ($8.0 million CAD) in cash based on actual earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for 
the 12 months ending March 31, 2010. We will fund the aggregate 
purchase price from our existing cash and cash equivalents. We will 
also assume certain liabilities of PowerComm including bank debt, 
accounts payable and obligations under capital leases estimated to 
total approximately $21.4 million ($22.5 million CAD). 

The transaction, which is subject to customary closing 
conditions, regulatory approvals and approval from PowerComm 
shareholders, is expected to close in December 2009. PowerComm 
is headquartered in Alberta, Canada, and listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange.

PowerComm has mailed the proxy and information circular 
to its shareholders for the meeting to be held on December 15, 
2009, at which its shareholders will vote on the proposal to 
approve the transaction.

evaluation of  Disclosure controls and procedures
We have established and maintain a system of disclosure controls 
and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
rules and forms of the Commission and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including 
our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosures.

Management, with the participation of our CEO and CFO, has 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) 
as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such 
evaluation, our CEO and CFO have each concluded that as of the 
end of such period, our disclosure controls and procedures were 

effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required 
to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and 
forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated 
to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate, 
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on internal control over 
financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in 
Rule 13a-15(f ) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. 
Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Due to 
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

Management of the Company has assessed the effectiveness of 
our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 
2009. Management evaluated the effectiveness of internal control 
over financial reporting based on the criteria in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on 
management’s evaluation, management has concluded that internal 
control over financial reporting was effective at the reasonable 
assurance level as of September 30, 2009, based on criteria in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public 
accounting f irm, has audited and issued their report on the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
September 30, 2009, which appears in their report to the financial 
statements included herein.

changes in internal control over financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial 
reporting during the year ended September 30, 2009, that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting.
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RepoRt of inDepenDent RegisteReD puBlic accounting fiRM
 
to the Board of  Directors and stockholders of  powell industries, inc.:
In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Powell Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries at September 30, 2009 
and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the three years ended September 30, 2009, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s 
management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for 
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting appearing on page 51 of the Powell Industries, Inc. 2009 Annual Report to Shareholders under the heading 
“Management’s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 
statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement 
and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial 
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note I to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertainty 
in income taxes for 2008.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
December 11, 2009
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